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1. Name

historic St. Augustine Historic District

and Of common

2. Location

N/A L.
street & number not for publication
city, town St. Augustine vidnily o

Florid
state ernaa code 12 county St. Johns code 109
3. Classification
Qategory Ownership UnNtue Present Use v

X district public ~ occupied agricutture musouffi
buitding<e) private X unoccupied commerciel v
structure _ 2L both work in progress X educetional -X  private residence
site AubHc AcguieJtien Accessible Ji 1 entertainment ™ religtous
object In process yes: restricted -X1 government

being considered JL. yet: unreetricled . Irtduetrlel trMapM*a*bwi

no mWitery Other

4. Owner of Property

name Multiple

street S number N/A

cHy. town St. Augustine vicinity of Stats Florida

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry ot deeds, etc. St. Johns County Courthouse

streeta number 95 Cordova Street

ctty, town St. Augustine stele  Florida

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

St. Augustine Survey hoe IMS property been determined eUgMsT yes

1978-1986 _county
dtposHffry for survey records Florida Department of State; Hist. St. Augustine Preservation Bd.

city, town Tallahassee and St. Augustine state Florida



7. Description

Condition Chock ono Chock ono
.deteriorated ___ unaltered ____original aite
VXXi .ruins ___altered ____moved date
fair .unexposad
Doseribo tho proaont and original (if known) physical karanco

SUMMARY OF PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Tho rovisod St. Augustino Hiatoric Diarlct, located in St.
Augustine, Florida, is composed of buildings reflecting a variety of
usee, styles, materials, and several distinct periods of
development. The district consists primarily of attached and

detached masonry and frame commercial and residential buildings
generally rising one and two stories in height. Its settleaent dates
from c. 1S66 when the Spanish adelantado Pedro Henendez." de Aviles
founded the torth at its present location. Its physical development
began c. 1603 when Governor Mendez Canco ordered the laying Out of
the town. Its oldest standing structure in the district is the
Castillo de San Marcos begun in 1672 and completed during the
1690's. Contributing buildings in the district date from c. 1740,
when the town was destroyed by invading Georgians, to approximately
1935 when Government House, one of the major buildings in the
district, was completed. They generally are of a frame or masonry
vernacular design, but also Include examples of Spanish and British
colonial styles, late nineteenth century styles such as the Queen
Anne, Carpenter Gothic and Moorish Revival, and the Spanish Revival
style dating from the Florida Boom of the 1920s. The district has
lost some of its integrity due to poor maintenance, destruction and
alteration, but overall it retains to a remarkable degree the
physical characteristics which convey its historic periods of
development
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TEXT SUPPORTING PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

St. Auguatlne Is an incorporated city with a population of
approximately 15,000, located in the northeast corner of the State of
Florida, in St. Johns County, on the Atlantic Coast. Its economy is
based on commercial fishing, tourism, industry, and commerce. St.
Augustine serves as the governmental center for St. Johns County.

The St. Augustine Historic District extends over an area of
approximately one hundred and thirteen acres. Its rough boundaries
are Cordova Street and Maria Sanchez Creek on the vest. Orange Street
and the Castillo de San Marcos property on the north, Matanzas Bay on
the east, and a line running parallel to and two hundred twenty five
feet south of St. Francis Street. A number of natural and manmade

features define the boundaries of the district. On the east is
Matanzas Bay and on the west Marla Sanchez Creek. The boundaries
generally follow the original town plan of St. Augustine as it

appeared in 1764 at the end of the First Spanish period.

St. Augustine is an urban area with mixed land usage, including
residential, commercial and heavy industrial areas, vacant lands, and
transportation facilities. The district contains buildings devoted to
mixed uses: commercial buildings, county and state office buildings,
single-family residences, large residences that have been adapted for
use as multi-family dwellings or commercial uses, churches and
schools. The zoning in the district is variable. The central portion
of the current district, located primarily along King and St. George
Streets, is commercial.

The district generally follows the limits of the colonial city of
St. Augustine. The colonial city is the section of St. Augustine that
was enclosed by the early eighteenth century defense lines. As Dbest
seen on the 1764 Puente map, the colonial urban area Is bounded by
present-day Orange Street on the north, Cordova Street on the vest,
San Salvador Street on the south, and the bayfront on the east. As a
whole, the Colonial City represents the most diverse and comprehensive
concentration of historic properties within the City of St.
Augustine. It contains properties dating from the sixteenth through
the early twentieth centuries.
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There are all or part of forty-six blocks in the district. The
blocks are organized around a grid layout with streets running
north-south and east-wvest. Avenida Menendez follows an irregular
course along the bayfront in a north-socuth direction. The streets
paralleling Avenida Menendez are more rectilinear. They are

Charlotte, St. George, Spanish and Cordova Streets to the north of the
central plaza and Marine, Charlotte, Aviles, St. George, and Cordova

Streets to the south of the Plaza. The Streets running perpendicular
to Avenida Menendez and the Bayfront are Orange, Tolomato Lane, Cuna,
Hypolita, Treasury, Cathedral Place, King, Artillery Lane, Cadiz,
Bridge, and St. Francis. Blocks located within the district are

generally rectangular in shape, but very irregular in dimension.

Buildings were classified as contributing to the district based
on the following criteria. They added to the sense of time, place,
and historic development of St. Augustine through their location,
design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association. They
number 212 or 74 percent of the total number of buildings in the
district. They are all at least fifty years old and reflect a period
of development spanning the period from 1672 to 1935.

The remaining buildings within the district fall into one of two
categories. They are either more than fifty years o0ld and retain
little if any of their original physical appearance or less than fifty
years o©ld without exceptional significance. They are, however,
accounted for in the final inventory, and the reasons for their
exclusion will be noted and explained below. They number 75 or 24
percent of the total. Based on documentary research and architectural
field survey, the year 1935 was chosen as the terminal point of the
period of signifcant historic development of the district. The
historic development was largely complete following the end of the
Florida Land Boom in the late 1920s. The Atlantic National Bank
Building, completed in 1927, was one of the 1last major buildings
constructed in the district during its period of significant
development. One other notewvorthy building located in the district is
Government House. Constructed in 1935, it is considered a contributing
building because of its association with Mellen C. Greely, an
important Florida architect, and its design and materials, which were
combined in an attempt to reconstruct the Spanish governor’s house on
its original foundations. It vas one of the first
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

attempts at reconstructing the Spanish architectural haritage of
St. Augustine.

Collectively, the Dbuildings within the St. Augustine
Historic Distlct are the oldest in St. Augustine. Whereas only
approximately 26 percent of the pre-1926 buildings In the city
date from before the twentieth century, almost SO percent in the
St. Augustine Historic District City were built during the
seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth centuriea. The range of
architectural styles is also also wider in the district than in
other areas of the city, particularly along the entire length of
St. George Street. Only 45 percent of the buildinga are liated as
Frame Vernacular, compared to 75 percent for the entire city.
Moreover, one-half of the Moorish Revival and Carpenter Gothic
Revival buildings, one-third of the Queen Anne buildings and all
of the Gothic Revival buildinga fall within the dlstirct.
Examples of Itallanate, Second Empire, and Spanish Revival are
also located there.

Despite this architectural diversity, the aost prominent style
next to the vernacular la related to the colonial or
Spanish-influenced. Almost one of every three surveyed buildinga
are designed in an Hispanic stylei 18 percent as Spahnish
Colonial, six percent as St. Augustine Colonial Revival, and
seven percent as Spanish Revival. As wvill be discussed below,
this Hispanic ambiance does not pervade the entire Colonial City,
but is concentrated in several blocks or on a number of streets.
The historic district has its share of Bungalows (about five
percent), but curiously, only about one percent of all buildings
are designed in the turn-of-the-century Colonial Revival style, a
style more popular in the new subdivisions, such as Model Land
Company, which began developing during the Flagler era.

Located in the downtown business district, the St. Augustine
Historic District has, compared with the rest of St. Augustine,
the lowest percentage of private residences and, conversely, the
highest percentage of commercial buildings in the city. It also
has the greatest concentration of buildings used for museum and
military purposes. With the exception of the buildings on
Anastasia Island, those within the district are the best
maintained in the city, with only 22 percent being listed in fair
condition, well below the city-wide average.

For purposes of detailed analysis, the district is divided
into a series of subareas that share certain historical and
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

architectural featurea and other characteriatica. The
northernmoat aectlon of the dlatrict waa bounded In the
eighteenth and nineteenth century by the Cubo defense Iline and

the City Gate on tha north and in the eighteenth century by the
Rosario Defanse line, present-day Cordova Street, on the vest.
This area first developed in the late seventeenth century as the
city expanded northward froa its earlier settlement south of the
plaza. AlIll structures, except the Impregnable Castillo da San
Marcos, vara destroyed in the 1702 siege of the city, those
generally north of Cuna Street by the Spanish to establish a
clear field of fire from the fort, and those south by the
invading South Carolinians. By mid-century buildings had been
reconstructed mainly along St. George and Spanish Streets. A
number of them still stand on St. George, including the Avero,
DeHesa, Arrives, and Rodriguez-Sanchez Houses. During the British
period, the Minorcans generally settled this section of town
which remained the "Minorcan Quarter” well into the nineteenth
century.

New construction continued in the Second Spanish Period
(1784-1821), with four extant buildings and structures dating
froa this era: the Paredes-Dodge, Triay, and Genoply houses (the
latter also called the Oldest Schoolhouse) and the City Gate
(photo 17). By the mid-nineteenth century, development expanded
westward along Hypollta and Cuna Streets. The post-Civll War
years brought intense commercialization to part of Hypollta and
all of St. George Street as the main thoroughfare became Ilined
with shops, boarding houses, and large hotels. The areas off St.
George Street remained essentially residential, and Spanish
Street became by 1900 one of several predominantly black
neighborhoods outside Lincolnville, having Ita own school and
church in the southernmost block of the street. St. George Street
underwent major changes Iin the Ilate nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries with the construction of the massive concrete
city hall at the corner of Hypollta Street, the demolition of
colonial structures, snd the erection of brick commercial
buildings. This section of the street gradually deteriorated into
a depressed business district. Since 1959, the Historic St.
Augustine Preservation Board, in conjunction with the St.
Augustine Restoration Foundation and private citizens, has
restored and reconstructed 25 five buildings along St. George and
Cuna Streets as part of a movement to recognize the city's
disappearing colonial past. Several of the Board's buildings are
operated as part of a living-history museum, San Agustin Antiguo.
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

This section of the district, located immediately to the
southwest of the Castillo de San Marcos, has been the major area
of restoration efforts over the past two decades and is one of
St. Augustine's leading tourist attractions (photo 12). The
principal architectural ambiance of this section is Spanish or
British Colonial in nature with almost 40 percent of the surveyed
buildings designed in Colonial or St. Augustine Colonial Revival
styles. Restorations and reconstructions line most of St. George
Street. Elements contributing to its colonial ambiance include
buildings constructed at street line, walls Ilining the street,
overhanging balconies, and ornamental rejaa or window bars.
Streets outside the Restoration Area, particularly on Cuna,
Spanish, and Charlotte Streets, have a large number of Frame
Vernacular post-colonial buildings, generally built between 18£S
and 1904, although the one at 4£ Spanish Street dates from the
early Territorial Period. Avenida Menendez (photo 4>, formerly
Bay Street, has become a modern commercial street dividing the
Restoration Area and the Castillo. The area generally retains
its colonial street patterns, though there have been major
alterations around the City Gate and bayfront. This section is
bounded on the east by the bayfront and seawall, long a famous
scenic attraction.

A relatively balanced combination of residential and
commercial uses are found in this area, and, because of the
Preservation Board's museum, almost one-half of all the museum
buildings In the Colonial City are located here. Despite the
extensive restoration and recontruction work that has taken
place, the area suffers from the largest collection of buildings
In the Colonial City listed in either fair or deteriorated
conditions. The conditions result primarily from the numerous
nineteenth century wood frame buildings on the fringes of the
Restoration Area. Traffic is limited in the area and banned on
St. George Street, but there are still serious traffic and
parking problems in the heavily traveled area. Because
of the commercial value of the land, there are continuing
pressures for new development, which is not always in conformity
with historical antecedents.

From Hypolita Street to Cathedral Place la another distinct
area of the district. The area has been one of the main
commercial and hotel districts in St. Augustine since the
mid-nineteenth century. It was first developed Iin the late
seventeenth century as the colonial community expanded northward
towards the newly-completed Castillo de San Marcos. The entire
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Present and Orijginal Physical Appearance (continued)

city vas destroyed in 1702 by the invading South Carolinians, but
by mid-century, the Rosario defense line had been been erected
along present-day Cordova Street and numerous residences had been
rebuilt on all streets, particularly between Charlotte Street and
the bay. By the end of the colonial period (1821), this area was
one of the most densely populated in the city, and a number of
buildings from the Spanish era have survived: the Fornells,
Sanchez, Burt, Joaneda, and Espinosa-Sanchez houses. In the
Territorial Period, the huge Florida House was constructed along
Treasury Street between Charlotte and St. George Streets, and the
Methodist Church located immediately north of it on Charlotte
Street. The post-Civil War years brought intense
commercialization to St. George, Charlotte, and part of Hypolita
streets. The Magnolia Hotel on St. George Street and the County
Courthouse on Charlotte Street were also constructed in the late
nineteenth century. By that time Spanish Street had become one of

several exclusive black residential neighborhoods outside
LIncolnville, with its school on the Dragoon Barracks lot and its
own church south of the Magnolia Hotel. The bayfront was a

residential area with several boarding houses. A bathhouse and
yacht club projected into the bay from the seawall. This section
of the colonial city, particularly the blocks between the bay and
St. George Street, was ravaged by major fires in 1887 and 1914,
and consequently it has one of the Ilowest percentages of
nineteenth century buildings within the city. The older buildings
are located along Spanish Street and the west side of St. George
Street south of Treasury Street, two areas untouched by
devastating fires.

Buildings in the area date from colonial period to the
present, although moat (81 percent) were constructed Iin the
twentieth century. The area, moreover, has the fewest colonial
buildings within the district. No one style has a visual
dominance, but a combination of Spanish Colonial, St. Augustine
Colonial Revival, and Spanish Revival, accounting for 44 percent
of the buildings, contribute to an Hispanic theme, different
though from the Spanish Colonial theme dominant in the
Reetoratlon Area to the north. An interesting Moorish Revival
facade on St. George Street further adds to this southern
European ambiance. Charlotte and Spanish Streets, however, have
retained a late nineteenth-early twentieth century Ilook due to
the cluster of Frame Vernacular buildings there. Because of the
commerlal nature of this section, there are relatively few Frame
but many Masonry Vernacular buildings. With the exception of
Avenlda Menendez, the late seventeenth century street pattern
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Pfeaent and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

generally has remained Intact, and the area boasts the narrowest
street In the city: Treasury Street east of Charlotte Street.
The section |Is also bounded on the east by the scenic bayfront
and seawall area.

St. George Street north of the central plaza Is still St
Augustine's leading commercial center as testified by the fact
that almost one-half of the buildings are used for commercial
purposes and that businesses outnumber the combined total number
of private residences and apartments. As a business district, it
is faced with traffic and parking problems, the result being that
large areas have been leveled and blacktopped for parking lota.
The streetacape has been damaged by the destruction of
landscaping and the conversion of some building facades to
reorient them. A once-famous colonial stretch on the east aide of
Charlotte Street, for instance, la now mainly taken up with the
backs of motels and other commercial establishments. Because of
more recent construction, about 70 percent of the buildings are
listed Iin good or excellent condition, and none are listed as
deteriorated. Buildings in fair condition are found among the
clusters of Ilate nineteenth century Frame Vernacular buildings
along Charlotte and Spanish streets.

The plaza area is still another distinctive area of the
district. The concept of plaza or public square has been central
to Spanish urban planning in the New World since the Ilate
sixteenth century. According to 1563 and 1573 royal ordinances,
the plaza was to function as the principal recreational and
meeting area Iin the community and was to be surrounded by the
most important govermental and ecclesiastical buildings. The St.
Augustine plaza dates from this period, although only one of the
stipulated buildings, the Governor's House, actually fronted the
plaza before the early eighteenth century. In the eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries, the plaza became surrounded by a
cluster of newer civic and religious structures, including the
Bishop's House (later the British Statehouse and Spanish
provisional church) at the corner of St. George and King, the
Accountancy and Treasury building at the corner of Cathedral and
Charlotte, the public school at the corner of St. George and
Cathedral, and the parish church (now the Basilica-Cathedral).
The plaza itself contained several colonial structures, most
notably the non-extant stone guardhouse at the eastern section
and still standing Constitution Monument (photo 22) in the center
of the square. Construction of Trinity Episcopal Church and the
Public and Fish markets were major changes introduced in the
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

ia20s and I1B30e, although the 'Public Square* went only as far as
Aviles (Hospital) Street Just west of the above markets. In the
IS70s trees, plants, and fountains were added to beautify the
"Plaza de Ila Constltuclon,* a Confederate monument was erected,
and the plaza was extended east to Charlotte Street. By the Ilate
IBBOs, the plaza was ringed by large buildings, notably the St.
Augustine Hotel. Smaller commercial buildings replaced the hotel
after the devastating fire destroyed the hostelry and severely
damaged the Public Market and Cathedral In 1BB7. In 1B93,
Cathedral Place was extended from St. George Street to Cordova
Street, thus forming a smaller plaza to the west of Government
House.

Although the massive eighteenth century coquina Rosario
redoubt had been earlier demolished to widen Cordova Street, the
west plaza area was still engulfed by the monumental Flager
hotels on the south and west and by a cigar factory on the north.
Dramatic alterations were seen In the plaza area In the 1920s. A
bandstand was built In the center of the plaza, the Ponce de Leon
statue unveiled to the east, the tall First National Bank
building (photo 28 ) constructed, and the Bridge of Lions opened
at the east end, formerly the plaza basin. In the last two
decades, demolition of the Bishop's House and Bishop Block have
altered the view In the northwest corner of the plaza.

The plaza Is bordered by religious, commercial, and
governmental buildings representing a range of construction of
of almost two centuries, from the Basilica-Cathedral (1797 but
rebuilt in the IBBOs) (photo 21),the Public Market Place (1B24),
and Trinity Episcopal Church (1B2S) to stores built In the 1950s.
The architectural ambiance of the plaza area is noticeably
Hispanic with Spanish Colonial and Mediterranean Revival
buildings constituting the majority of the edifices. The Gothic
Revival Trinity Episcopal Church and the vernacular Public Market
add visual diversity to the area. Masonry Is the dominant
building material. The tallest building in the city, the Atlantic
Bank, fronts the plaza, and the other buildings are generally
multi-storied. The plaza and adjacent area have been the favorite
place for the town's monuments from colonial through modern
times, most notably the Constitution Obelisk (1814), the
Confederate War Memorial (1672), the Pell Horse Fountain (1887),
the Post Office Park Fountain (1899), the Lorlng Memorial (1920),
the World War | Memorial (1921), the Anderson Fountain (1921),
the Ponce de Leon Statue (1923), the World War Il Memorial
(1948), the Father Camps Statue (1975). The plaza Is bounded on
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)
the vest by Flager College, formerly the Hotel Ponce de Leon.

The plaza area has been and still is a leading commerial,
governmental, and ecclesiastical center In St. Augustine, As a
result, the buildings generally are well maintained. Government
House has served a number of governmental functions over the
years and now serves as the offices of the Historic St. Augustine
Preservation Board. Because of the plaza's central Ilocation In
downtown St. Augustine, traffic and parking problems plague the
area, and aany significant buildings In adjacent areas have been
demolished for parking lots. Increased traffic brought Into the
plaza area by a proposed enlarged bridge would seriously Impair
traffic flow in the downtown area, threatening the
INntegrity of the historic colonial town plan.

From King Street to Bridge Street Is another distinctive
area of the district. The area has been continuously occupied
since the sixteenth century and represents the Ilocation of the
1565 settlement of St. Augustine. All buildings were destroyed
during the 1702 attack by the South Carolinians, but by
mid-century, the Rosario defense line had been erected along the
present-day location of Cordova Street, and numerous buildings
rebuilt throughout the area, although density was greater towards
the bayfront. In the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries,
the area contained a number of governmental and ecclesiastical
buildings. Including La Soledad parish church and school on St.
George Street and the hospital and Jail on Aviles (Hospital)
Street. The eouthern border of this area. Bridge Street, led to
one of three late colonial San Sebastian River ferry croaalnga.
Certain patterns of earlier development persisted Into the
American Period in the area. Aviles Street had a
disproportionately large number of public and educational
facilities such as the Territorial City Council Meeting House,

and In the late nineteenth century, the Peabody School, city
Jail, library, and police and fire departments. St. Joseph's
Academy opened In the 1870s on St. George Street. Several
prominent hotels were also located In this section.

Including the Ocean View on the bayfront and the St. George
adjacent to Trinity Eaplcopal Church. Since the Civil War, St.
George Street has remained a residentsl neighborhood of stately
homes.
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Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

Thla section has been heavily influenced by colonial
developmental patterns. The small blocks and narrow streets of
the sixteenth century settlement are still evident, and one of
the largest concentrations of extant colonial buildings is found
here: the Horrutlner-Lindsley, Paredes-Segul-Macmillan, and
Canova-Murat houses on St. George Street; Segul, O'Reilly, Papy,
and Ximenez-Fatio houses on Aviles Street; Solana House (photo
18) on Charlotte Street; and Jacinto House on Marine Street. This
section, moreover, has an Interesting cluster of Territorial
Period buildings on Bridge Street between St. George and Cordova
Streets. Many fine Victorian buildings from the Flager era, like
those on Palm Row (photo 28), are evident, as well as the beat
example of Carpenter Gothic in the city. The massive Gothic
Revival St. Joseph's Academy building lends greater architectural
diversity to the area. Some remodeling and construction have
taken place in the St. Augustine Colonial Revival Style as well.
Aviles Street retains some colonial ambiance, with many buildings
constructed on the street Iline, overhanging balconies, and
coquina property walls (photo 7). The visual effect of other
streets tends to be mixed Spanish Colonial and Victorian, except
along the bayfront, which 1s dominated by modern motels. The last
surviving buildings projecting over the water are found along
this stretch of the bayfront.

With the exception of St. George and Bridge streets, the
area has a high percentage of buildings used for commercial and
transporatlon purposes. St. Joseph’'s Academy sits between a
resldental and commercial-museum area. Primarily because of the
Territorial and post-Civll War wood frame buildings, this section
has the highest percentage of buildings in the Colonial City
listed in fair or deteriorated condition. The mixed usages in the
area as well as its proximity to the prime business and
government district have led to severe traffic and parking
problems. The traffic load is especially damaging since some
streets, notably St. George, Aviles and Charlotte, are still
surfaced in turn-of-the-century brick. Because of parking, many
significant buildings, particularly Flager era hotels and
mansions, have been demolished over the years for parking Ilots
and other facilities.

Between Bridge and St. Francis streets is another distinct
area within the district, one that was initially occupied
in the first half of the seventeenth century as the early
settlement expanded south towards the St. Francis convent. All
structures were destroyed in 1702 by invading South
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Carollnlana, but by mid-century houaes had been rebuilt on all
atreets except preaent-day Cordova Street, then the course of the
early eighteenth century Rosario defense Iline. The northern
boundary of the area. Bridge Street, led to one of three late
colonial San Sebastian River ferry croaaings. The British
demolished numerous buildings here, but were the first to build
along the bayfront on the east side of Marine Street. The Spanish
filled this low-lying Iland in the 1790a. and substantial
residences were thereafter erected on the reclaimed Iland. Ths
Spanish crown owned considerable property in this section of the
Colonial city, such as a school building near the southeast
cornsr of Bridge and St. George streets and the vacant land west
of St. George Street where crops were raised by the garrison.
The area remanined essentially residential throughtout the
American period, although several religious structures were built
along St. George Street (the non-extant nineteenth-century
Presbyterian Church and the 20th-century Cathedral Parish School
complex) and along Cordova Street (the 20th-century synagogue).
Several boarding houses were scattered throughout the area. most
notably the St. Francis Inn and the Valencia Hotel.

This section is the oldest neighborhood within the Colonial
City, with 57 percent of the surveyed buildings dating from the
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The four Territorial and
Early Statehood buildings found here represent the largest
concentration of such buildings in the entire city, and nine
colonial buildings, one of the greatest concentrations in the
Colonial City area, have survived in this section, particularly
in clusters along Marine and St. Francis Streets: the
Sanchez. Marin. Puello. Gonzalez-Jones. Rovira-Oewhurst. and
Rovira-Hernandez houses on Marine Street; the Tovar and Alvarez
(Oldest House) houses on St. Francis Streets; and the
Garcia-Dummett House on the corner of St. Francis and St. George
Streets. The Llambias House and the St. Francis Barracks (photo
.20) lie on the south side of St. Francis Street.

Since one-third of the colonial buildings have been altered
to non-Spanish Colonial styles, however, the colonial motif does
not dominate the area. with the exception of the Historical
Society complex along St. Francis Street and partially down
Charlotte and Marine streets. This section la the stylistically
most diverse within the Colonial City. Sixty percent of the Queen
Anne, two-thirds of the Colonial Revival, and one-third of all
the Bungalow buildings in the old city area are located here, as
are examples of Mediterranean Revival. Second Empire. Itallanate.
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and Mediterranean Baroque. The bayfront and St. George Street are two
of the outstanding Victorian period neighborhoods in St. Augustine,
with many elegant and more elaborate winter residences from the Flagler
era. The early seventeenth-century street plan is still intact, except
along Avenida Henendex, although the street widths and block sizes are
larger than in the sixteenth century section located immediately to the

north.

This section has the highest percentage (87 percent) of the
surveyed buildings within the Colonial City. A few commercial
buildings dot the area as do nine religious and three educational
buildings. The museums operated by the St. Augustine Historical

Society are situated at the southern end of the section. Despite their
age, the buildings are in relatively good condition, with a pocket of
frame buildings in fair condition along Charlotte Street. The streets,
some still brick, are exposed to a high amount of tourist, school.
National Guard, and Flagler Hospital traffic that passes through the

area.

The area along and to the south of St. Francis Street forms the
last distinctive area of the district. The presence of the church and
the military dominates the historical development of the walled city
there. This southern section has been occupied since the Spanish
constructed the church and convent of St. Francis in the late sixteenth
century. The religious structures were destroyed by South Carolinians
in the 1702 attack on the city, but they were rebuilt out of coquina by
mid-century. A number of private residences were erected along St.
Francis and Charlotte Streets, but this area was one of the poorer
neighborhoods in the colonial community. The Rosario defense Iline,
built in the early eighteenth century, enclosed this tract on the west
and south and terminated at its easternmost stone bastion. Fort St.
Francis. The British significantly altered this section by converting
the convent into military barracks, erecting a new frame barracks to
the south, and demolishing most of the modern Spanish residences. With
the exception of the extant colonial buildings along both sides of St.
Francis Street (including the Llambias House) and the colonial barracks
complex that became a permanent U. S. military reservation in 1832,
this section remained underdeveloped until the late nineteenth century
and early twentieth centuries. The British and Spanish used the vacant
land west of Charlotte Street as a military cemetery and in the
Territorial Period the victims of the Dade Massacre were interred
there. This burial ground became a National Cemetery in
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the 1880s. After the Civil War, houses were built on Federal
property for military personnel, and a black residential
neighborhood, one of several outside LIncolnville, developed along
Charlotte Street. Several large private residences vere constructed
on St. Francis Street, notably the Stickney House at 282 St.  George
Street, which for a brief time around World War | served as Flagler

Hospital. St. George Street south of St. Francis Street was not cut
through until the early 1890s and the neighborhood did not fully
develop until the first three decades of the twentieth century. A

few private residences were also built on Marine Street early in the
century. Since 1907, the State of Florida has operated the St.
Francis Barracks complex as the State's military headquarters.

Although a cluster of two colonial buildings is situated along
St. Francis Street, this section is the youngest within the Colonial
City, two-thirds of the buildings dating from the twentieth century.
The late nineteenth century homes are located along the bayfront on
Marine Street while the newer buildings are situated on St. George
Street. This area has a high concentration of bungalows with over
one-half within the Colonial City locate there. Of particular
Interest is a series of shingled bungalows with palmetto porch posts
along St. George Street. Also noteworthy is the fact that buildings
on this street generallyback up to Maria Sanchez Lake rather than

face it, as do the house on the west side of thelake. The same
pattern is true along the Matanzas River, so maximum advantage Is
not taken of the waterfront property in this area. This area is
residential in nature, especially in the eastern and western
sections. Because of their age and the stability of the
neighborhood over time, the buildings are in the best condition of
any within the St. Augustine Historic District. The area does

suffer from excessive traffic heading towards the National Guard
offices and Flagler Hospital, although most is channeled down the
major thoroughfare. Marine Street.

The St. Augustine Historic District is a mosaic of
architectural styles and periods of development. The colonial
period in St. Augustine lasted from 156S until 1821. The city was
under Spanish rule until 1763. The british controlled St. Augustine
from then until 1784, when the Spanish returned for their final
period of rule. A distinctive architecture developed during this
time, growing more substantial from the early rude
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shelters of wood, thatch, and wattle-and-daub to the masonry age
that foloved the selge and burning of the city In 1702. The
oldest, and most outstanding, surviving building Is the Castillo
de San Marcos, which was constructed between 1672 and 1695
(photo 16). It was the first large scale building using locally
available coquina rock. It Is the oldest masonry fort In the
United States and Is recognized today as a national landmark and
maintained by the National Park Service.

The thirteen extant residences that date from the First
Spanish Period have been extensively enlarged and altered over
the years. Distinctive architectural features of this period
Include projecting rejas and other wooden grlllwork. Interior
shutters, arcaded loggias, and projecting ralnspouts, known as
canales, on flat-roofed buildings. The British, during their two
decades In St. Augustine, often added extra rooms or upper
stories to enlarge existing buildings. The combination of rejas
and Interior shutters was replaced by single or double hung sash
with exterior shutters. Colonial buildings were generally
constructed at the street line with walled courtyards and doors
on the south side entering off the courtyard or loggia. The
British often altered these by placing doors directly on the
street. Window glass and chimneys also became common during the
British period. Balconies projecting over the street were another
distinctive colonial feature. They sometimes have corbeled
supports as a functional and decorative element.

Residential construction was functional rather than ornate,
but some of the public buildings were constructed on a grander
scale. The facade for the Spanish Treasury, on the northeast
corner of St. George and Treasury streets, reputedly had the most

ornate coquina work in the city. The extant cathedral,
originally constructed In the 1790s, also went beyond the merely
functional. Its facade was Inspired by Neo-Classical style

popular In Latin America In the Ilate eighteenth and early
nineteenth centuries.

Of the 300 buildings remaining In the town at the end of the
colonial period, about 90 percent have been destroyed. To serve
the needs of later occupants, the survivors have been remodeled
over the years, sometimes effectively concealing their colonial
heritage behind facades and additions that range from early
American to modern. In recent decades several colonial buildings
have been restored, through public and private efforts, to their
appearance at an earlier time. Buildings from all three periods
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of the colonial era have been reconstructed, somtimes on the
original foundations. In an attempt to return a colonial ambiance
to some parts of the old city, particularly along north St.
George Street and around the Oldest House complex, on St.
Francis, Marine, and Charlotte streets.

The early American Period In St. Augustine, from 1821 until
the Civil War, saw continuity and change In architecture.
Vernacular buildings, particularly In the early vyears, are
simlllar to Ilate colonial buildings In materials, size, lot
placement, and construction techniques. Examples Include the
continued use of coquina In construction. Even after It ceased
being used as the main material for house walls, coquina was
still widely employed for foundation piers and chimneys.
Balconies remained a prominent feature on some of these
buildings. On roof dormers, the colonial practice of placing the
siding parallel with the pitch of the roof was still followed In
many cases. Post-1821 vernacular construction continued to
reflect functional simplicity In a town that was, and remained
for many vyears, basically poor. As the years passed and more
people from other parts of the United States settled In St
Augustine different Ideas about architecture and construction
were Introduced. Nationally these were years when the Greek
Revival style became popular before giving way to the Gothic
Revival. Building techniques were experiencing revolutionary
change with the development of balloon frame construction In
Chicago In the 1830s. A gradual shift In lot placement occurred
In St. Augustine as buildings were moved back from the
streetlinem. Front yards, fenced-ln but visible from the street,
replaced the walled colonial courtyards.

More elaborate and substantial buildings showed
the Influence of the Greek and Gothic Revival styles.
But the examples found In this distant outpost contained only a
hint of the development of styles that reached fullness
elsewhere. Trinity Episcopal Church, begun In 1825, combined the
contemporary Gothic style with an older building material,
coquina. The mansion of Gen. Peter Sken Smith, built next to
Trinity Church In the 1830s, and the original Magnolia Hotel on
St. George Street, built In the 1840s, showed Greek Revival
Influence. But In place of the fluted columns often associated
with the style, the Dbullings displayed simple square or round
wood columns with unadorned capitals. A common distinctive
feature on Dboth vernacular and more stylized buildings of the
early American Period Is the use of an Xx-pattern balustrade on
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porches and balconies. Chamfered porch posts were widely used,
and blinda with fixed louvers replaced the solid wood shutters of
the colonial era. This was a period of great popularity for
ashlar-scored stucco on coquina buildings. More refinement In
details like moulding and window and door trla is found in the
Early American than in the Colonial Period Buildings.

Carpenter Gothic, a peculiarly American version of the
Gothic Revival, Is the first of the distinctively nineteenth
century styles to have survived Iin St. Augustine. It was
popularized nationally in the writings and plan-books of Andrew
Jackson Downing, Alexsnder Jsckson Davis, and Richard Upjohn,
pupllshed in the 1830s, 1840s and 1850s. The hslimsrk of the
style is an extensive use of sawn wood ornamentation of the
bargeboards and eaves of the roof. This was made possible by the
nineteenth century development of the jigsaw. According to
architectural historian William Pierson, "the complex lace of the
Gothic cottage represents the first instance in this country in
which technology, Iin the form of a power driven tool, had a major
effect on the visual character of the American house.” Steeply
pitched gables Ilent a pronounced vertical emphasis to these
buildings.

Carpenter Gothic buildings became popular In St. Augustine
in the decade before the Civil War. The Trinity Church Parish
House <long since demolished and replaced by a newer building)
dates from this period. The Stanbury Cottage at 232 St. George
Street was probably built a few years later and repreeents the
highest development of the style In St. Augustine (photo 24).
This house is literally dripping with gingerbread and could well
serve as a textbook example of Carpenter Gothic architecture. It
features not only jigsaw ornanentation on the eaves and gables,
but also a distinctly Gothic balustrade on the projecting balcony
and diamond-shape multipane windows. Nationally, both stucco and
board-and-batten siding were popular exterior finishes for this
style. However, the Stanbury Cottage has weatherboard siding. Old
photographs reveal that there were other examples of Carpenter
Gothic In the district. But, given the incompleteness of the
evidence, it is difficult to say how many. New construction was
largely suspended during the Civil War, and when it began again
in the Ilate 1880s and early 1870s, the style's popularity had
passed. In the 1880s and 1890s, another period of building boom
in St. Augumtlne, there was a revival of some of the elements
(particularly jigsawn bargeboards), but these not as bold as
their predecessors.
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The Second Empire style was French in origin, taking Its name
from the era of Louis Napoleon, and popularized with the
construction of the New Lourve in Paris in the ISSOs. The

hallmark of the style is the mansard roof, which Is
doubled-pitched and four-sided, with dormers projecting from the
lower, steeply-pitched section. In the United States there are

early examples of the style that date from Just before the Civil
War. But it was most widely used during the building boom that
followed the conclusion of hostilities. For that reason, SCcond
Empire is often called the "General Grant Style,* referring to
the presidential era that lasted froa from 1869-1877.

In the late 1860s and early 1870s tourists began to come back
to St. Augustine, and several weathly Northerners had villas in
the Second Empire style constructed as winter residences. The
188S Bird's-Eye View of the city shows quite s number of these in
areas that were being developed or redeveloped at that time. The
outstanding builder connected with this style here was Capt.
Thomas F. House, a Union veteran and native of Vermont. He came
to St. Augustine in 1868 and served as alderman, mayor, and
collector of customs. In addition to his own Sunnyside Hotel
(which had a Mansard tower) on the Hotel Ponce de Leon site, he
constructed the Buckingham Smith Nursing Home (later the
Bucklnghaa Hotel) and a number of winter residences in the Second
Empire style. The style died out here in the late 1880s, the
early years of the Flagler era. Once seen as the height of style,
these buildings came to be Judged ugly and outmoded, and most of
them have been demolished. The only remaining mansard roof in St.
Augustine is found on the colonial St. Francis Inn at 279 St.
George Street, added to that building between 1888 and 1890. The
Stlckney House at 282 St. George Street, built in the 1870s, and
the Abbott Mansion at 14 Joyner Street, which dates from the
1880s, were originally designed in the Second Empire Style, but
were drastically remodeled in the 1920s, their exteriors stuccoed
and their mansards replaced by hip roofs. The Moorish Revival
Style Lyon Building, built In 1886 at the corner of King and St.
George streets, originally had a mansard roof, making It a
curious amalgamation of styles. But the top story was enlarged In
the 1890s and the roofline altered to a more conventional hip. In
recent years, architects have remodeled several commercial
buildings with "mansards” that are In reality modern false fronts
bearing no relation to the classical style.

The Moorish Revival style was introduced In St. Augustine
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by Franklin W. Smith with the construction of his Villa Zorayda
in 1883. Smith was a Boston merchant and amateur architect whose
hobby was reproducing (as both models and functional buildings)
famous architectural examples from other cultures around the
world. His work in the Moorish theme was Inspired by the Alhambra
in Spain, some of whose traceries are repeated on the interior
walls of Villa Zorayda. Ths Moorish Revival buildings constructed
in St. Augustine in the 1880s and 1890s form one of the
distinctive architectural treasures of the city. They are also
the pioneers of poursd concrete block construction. Drawing, as
they do, from variants of Moorish or Islamic architecture found
in Spain, they differ significantly from other Moorish buildings
like P. T. Barnum's mansion “lranietsn” Iin Bridgeport,
Connecticut, and Henry Plant's Tampa Bay Hotel, which sprouted
minarets and onion domes, features that drew from a differant
area and a later time in the Islamic world. The hallmark of the
style In St. Augustine includes a flat roof with the parapet
heavily decorated with cast concrete ornamentation. Sometimes
there is a pavilion tower. Exterior walls are not highly
ornamented, depending for their effect either on the distinctive
pour marks of the concrete or the ruatlcstions of the concrete
block veneer for those Dbuildings that are of wood frsss
construction. Door and window lines have a variety of interesting
trsatsents, and the horseshoe arch motif is widely used.
Buildings use both wooden and metal balconies, and some feature
ornamental tilework as well.

The Cordova Hotel (now the county courthouse) was the largest
Moorish Revival structure in St. Augustine (photo 7), with the
adjacent Lyon Building designed to conform to it. There was even
some spillover of Moorish design into wood construction, with a
horseshoe arch pattern found in some of the gingerbread around
town. Some of these buildings have fallen prey to fire,
deaolltion, and remodeling over the years, but the surviving
examples serve as a vivid rsminder of the Isportance of this
exotic style in the development of St. Augustine's architectural
heritage.

Queen Anne is the ultimate Ilate nineteenth century
style, originating in the late IBGOs with the work of British
architect Richard Norman Shaw. It was given impetus in the United
States with buildings erected by the British goverment at the
Philadelphia Cenntennial Exposition of 1S78 that attracted
widespread favorable comment. The style remained popular until
the turn of the century. Hallmarks of the Queen Anne style
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include a combination of siding materials (often making use of
patterned novelty shingles), irregular plan and massing,
ornamental brickwork on chimneys, and, most noticeably, the use
of towers and turrets. Porches and bay windows add to the effect.
St.  Augustine builders In the Ilate 1682 city directory,
advertised their skill at building "Queen Anne Cottages.* The
Magnolia Hotel on St. George street, rebuilt In the 1860s by the
contractors Cole and Mance, was probably ths largest building of
this styls found in St. Augustine. It was destroyed by fire In
the 1920s. The Upham Cottage at 268 St. George Street, which
lacks a tower but has the other elements in great profusion,
including outstanding ornate interior woodwork, is probably the
finest surviving residential example of this style. As with
othsr buildings that have gone out of style, many "Queen Annes*
were destroyed over the years, leaving only about a dozen extant.
Others have been stripped of some distinctive elememts. Several
houses have had their towers removed, thus diminishing the St.
Augustine skyline.

The Colonial Revival style harkens back to early American
buildings that drew inspiration from English Georgian
architecture of the time. The style was popularized by buildings
designed for the 1892-1893 Columbian EXposition in Chicago. It
involved both a rejection of exhuberant Victorian architecture
and an affirmation of patriotic feeling which asserted that
America's cosing of age required delving into national roots for
architectural inspiration. This style was popular throughout the
first three decades of the twentieth century. Hallmarks of the
Colonial Revival style found in St. Augustine include porticoes
with round wood columns, dentil mouldings, fanlight windows, and
sidelights at the main entry. Both weatherboard and wood shingle
exteriors are found. The Colonial Revival building is typically
painted white with white trim, in contrast both to the original
colonial buildings and to the Victorian styles that immediately
preceded the Colonial Revival. It is one of three dominant styles
found In early twentieth century tract developments In the city,
quite often In a diminuitlve or subdued version.

The Bungalow is the first distinctive twentieth century
style found the iIn the St. Augustine Historic District. Its
Inspiration was international. The name came from India, and
some of its more distinctive features were borrowed from Swiss
and Japanese architecture. It represented a clear break from the
preceding nineteenth century styles In terms of size, massing,
and many interior featurea. Overall, vertical lines in the
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earlier styles were replaced by a horizontal emphasis. Visible
structural members of the buildings were highlighted. The typical
bungalow Is one or one and one-half stories, with a low pitched
gable roof and porches. Jlgsawn ornamentation was replaced with
unadorned triangular bungalow brackets under wide eaves. Turned
or chamfered porch posts were replaced with shingled or battered
wood ones. The use of native construction elements was a feature
of bungalows around the country. In St. Augustine native
elements Included palmetto tree posts on porches, coquina
fireplaces, and chimneys on more elaborate examples. Frequently,
combination double hung windows are found, with a single large
pane In the bottom sash, and three, four, five, or six panes on
top, separated by wvertical muntina. Weatherboard, novelty
siding, and wood shingle exteriors were popular. There are a few
examples of stucco and composition shingle finishes as well.
Several areas In the southern portion of the district developed
around World War I and shortly afterwards have Ilarge
concentrations of bungalows. They were a popular design for the
tract housing of the times. The outstanding architect associated
with this style In St.Augustine was Fred A. Henderlch, who
designed many bungalows on south St. George Street near Maria
Sanchez Lake.

The Spanish Revival Style was closely associated with the
Florida Boon of the 1920a. It drew from architectural features
found In the Mediterranean basin, particularly Spain, Italy, and
North Africa. In some ways the style was a logical successor to
Spanish Colonial architecture In St. Augustine. Many of Its
distinctive elements were pioneered In the Spanish Renaissance
buildings of the Flagler era and the contemporary Mission Revival
buildings In California. The style was popularized at the
Panama-Californla International EXxposition at San Diego In 191S,
and by the 1920s had swept California, Florida and other sunbelt
states. The archetypal Florida building In the Spanish Revival
style was the extremely ornate Villa Vizcaya, built In Miami from
1914-1916 for Chicago Industrialist James Deerlng, whose family
had formerly wintered in St. Augustine. The best-known architect
In this style was the flamboyant Addison Mizner, who designed a
number of outstanding Spanish Revival buildings In Palm Beach,
Boca Raton, and elsewhere. Hallmarks of the Mediterranean Revival
style In St Augustine Include clay tile roofs or cornices,
stucco finish (smooth, textured, or shell dash), and the use of
an arch motif on windows, doors, and porches. Casement and
fanlight windows are found, along with double hung sash. There Is
some use of ornamental Ironwork for windows grilles and



Nn Pam 1040M OM« WO. 1024-001!

»>> (wplroa
United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service r«r Nf*8 in* only
National Register of Historic Places roe(ved
Inventory—Nomination Form date entered
Continuation sheat Iltem number Page 21

Present and Original Physical Appearance (continued)

balconets. Popular axterlor colors vsre white, yellow-brown, and
rose.

The St. Augustine Colonial Revival atyle draws from the
Spanish heritage of the area and Involves both new construction
and the remodeling of older buildings. It Includes both
reproductions of earlier styles and the drawing of elements from
them. Probably the earliest example was the Drysdale building at
Avenlda Kenendez, which was reconstructed along the lines of a
colonial building on a site that was destroyed in an 1887 fire.
While the style and size were simlliar, the building material
used was poured concrete, rather than the earlier coquina. In the
1930s several buildings were remodeled by Walter Fraser, owner of
several local tourist attractions, to make them appear older than
they actually were. And when Government House was rebuilt as a
depression-era project, it was designed in a manner simlliar to
an earlier building that had once occupied the site. The major
use of the atyle came after 1959, when extensive restoration and
reconstruction activities were launched in the city. An early
promoter was Earle Newton, the first director of the St
Augustine Restoration and Preservation Commission. The
outstanding builder-practitioner was local contractor William
Forrester. An attempt to bring a certain amount of visual
harmony to the city, use of the style Involved both real and
Imagined elements of colonial architecture. Such features as clay
tile roofs, brick, and ornamental Ironwork were a reflection of
what had been done to colonial buildings over the years, rather
than how they originally appeared.

Host of the buildings constructed In the St. Augustine

Historic District before 1930 do not fall Into any specific
architectural style but are listed simply as frame vernacular,
with a smaller number described as masonry vernacular. Those

terms refer to the common construction style of any particular
period, using either wood or masonry as construction materials.
The buildings cannot be classified In a particular style, like
Carpenter Gothic, or Queen Anne, or Colonial Revival. Host of
them were probably designed by a builder rather than an
architect, and some of them are tract homes dating from different
periods. This Is not to say they are without architectural merit.
Indeed, some of the most distinctive buildings In the city, Ilike
those on Palm Row, are so classified. Vernacular buildings
reflect the styles popular at their time of construction. There
Is some similarity within time periods, but not across time. The
vernacular buildings of the 1850s differ greatly from those of
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the 1890s or the 1920s. These buildings are important for a study of
the representative architecture, construction techniques, and building
materials of their times and reveal much about the social history of
the community. Vernacular architecture gives an area its particular
character.

Many Victorian vernacular buildings include porches decorated
with gingerbread and may have patterned novelty shingles, jigsawn
bargeboards, and rafters. Some of the smaller examples are based on a
"shotgun" plan, with three rooms laid out in a direct 1line with no
connecting hall. After the turn of the century, a boxy hip-roofed
house was popular. Vernacular buildings from the first three decades
of the twentieth century frequently show elements of the Colonial
Revival and Bungalow styles of the time.

Archaeological sites are another important physical feature of
the district. The largest and most significant site is the town plan
itself which dates to c. 1600. Within the plan is a highly patterned
spatial distribution of sites within house lots. Typical sites
include the foundations of primary buildings, such as houses,
outbuildings, particularly kitchens and privies, and wells, either
barrel wells or square wells with walls generally constructed of
coquina. Limited survey and excavation of archaeological sites have
occurred in St. Augustine since the 1930’s, although at present no
detailed, comprehensive map of site distribution within the district
exists.

The St. Augustine Historic district is a mosaic of architectural
styles and periods of development. nly in that part of the district
set aside as the official state-operated restoration area and
living-history museum is the colonial Hispanic flavor of St. Augustine
carefully and consciously preserved. Although the rest of the
district contains buildings and other features of the Spanish
occupation, the area outside of +the restoration district has a
charming and eclectic mixture of colonial, antebellum, late nineteenth
and early twentieth century architecture. This fascinating blend of
eras represented in the physical components of +the community also
reflects the cultural and stylistic heterogeneity of St. Augustine
from its colonial period toc the present.
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8. Significance

period Araas of Sionificanco—Cltock and Justify bolow
prehistoric archeology-prehistoric community planning larufscape architecture religion
1400-1499 archeology-historic conservation - law ___science

JL, 1500-1599 agriculture " economics Jliterature . sculpture

JL, 1600-1699 architecture education X. military ___ social'

JL 1700-1799 art engineering ___music humanitarian
1800-1899 commerce exploration settlement___philosophy theater

A\. 1900- communications Industry JL politics government — transportation

invention . other (specify)
tpacHiddates g. 1566-1935 euilder; Architect various

Statement of Significance (in asie paragraph)

The St. Augustine Historic District fulfills criteria A, B, C and
D for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. It has signi-
ficance in the areas of archaeology-historic, architecture, politics
government. It has significance at the local, state, and, in some instances,
the national level. Its extant historic buildings date from c. 1682 until
1935. Many of them embody the colonial period of Florida*s history when
St. Augustine was the seat of government for the Spanish and British
colonial governments. They are associated with events and individuals
important to the historical development of the community, and individually
and collectively represent several important periods of architecture.
The district also has a nundjer of historic sites dating from the late
sixteenth century of proven and potential archaeological significance.
While the expanded district has lost some integrity, it retains many of
the features that embody various periods of historic development.
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Statement of Significance (continued)

Baaed on the rulea of the National Reglater of Hlatorlc Placea
(Title 3" Chapter I, Part SO, Section 60*IS), the revieed St. Auguatine
Hlatorlc Diatrict la juatifled to correct profeaalonal error In the
original nomination, which did not clearly delineate the dlatrict'a
boundarlea, failed to deacrlbe ita period of algnificant development, and
omitted an inventory of bulldlnga and other propertiea that contributed
to it.

The moat obvioua area of aignificance aaaoclated with the St.
Auguatine Historic Diatrict la exploration/aettleaent. Founded in ISSS,
St. Auguatine la the aite of the oldest continuously occupied settlement
in the United States. Archaeological excavation has uncovered sites
dating to the sixteenth century within the limits of the district. The
oldest above surface remnant of the Spanish presence in St. Auguatine is
the town plan, dating from c. ISOO.

The town plan of St. Augustine is itself significant. Beyond its
association with important historical events, it is significant in the
area of town planning. Spanish towns in the New World have Ilong been
recognized as significant to urban history. To a far greater degree than
any other colonial power in the New World, the Spanish followed a system
of land settlement and town planning formalized in written rules and
regulations. In contrast to the more organic English system, their towns
were uniform and centrally planned. From Florida to northern California
there extends an area once subject to Spanish rule, within which are
vestiges of Spanish town plans. Including the one at St. Augustine.*

As Spain extended ita rule into increasingly larger areas,
individual orders and instructions for the settlement and administration
of new towns became redundant. In 1573 the Laws of the Indies
established uniform standards for colonial administration. Including

procedures for planning new towns. They represented a codification of
principles of town planning which had become fairly standardized some
years earlier.*

There were more than three dozen specifications set forth in the
Laws of the Indies. One was that the plan was to be decided upon before
any construction, and it was to be ample in scope to allow for future

growth. Sufficient space was to be allowed so that if the town grew, it
could do so in a symmetrical fashion. Another identifying feature of the
Spanlsh-America6town plan was the plaza. For coastal towns, the

regulations prescribed a location for the plaza near the shore and for
inland cities in the center of the town. The length of the plaza was to
be at least one and a half times its width. Maximum and minimum
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Slateaivnt of Significance (continued)

diaenaions for the plaza were also set forth. Another diatlnctlve
feature of the Spaniah town plan were atreeta running parallel and
perpendicular to the central plaza. The reaultlng pattern took the fora
of al gridiron or checkerboard with atralght atreeta Interaecting at right
anglea.*

The regulationa alao provided preciae guldelinea for the location of
important bulldinga. The main church of a coaatal city vaa planned to
reaide near the harbor and face the plaza. Other altea around the plaza
were to be aaaigned for the town hall, the cuatoma houae, araenal, a
hoapltal and other public bulldinga. The remaining lots around the plaza
were provided for ahopa and dwellinga for merchanta.

The Lava of the Indiea regarding town planning remained virtually
unchanged during the entire period of Spaniah rule Iin the Western
Hemisphere. Even beyond that time they influenced the plana of towns
laid out by the Mexican government in North America. Literally hundreds
of towns in the Western Hemisphere were planned in conformity with the
Laws--a phenomenon unique in modern history.*

The plan of St. Augustine is a good example of Spanish plans for
coastal towns. Its most characteristic feature is the plaza, oriented
toward the water. Before the early eighteenth century only the
governor's house actually fronted the plaza. During the eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries, the plaza became surrounded by a cluster of
civic and religious buildings, including the Bishop's House (later the
British Statehouse and Spanish provisional church), the Accountancy and
Treasury Building, the public school, and the parish church (now the
Basilica-Cathedral). The plaza itself contained several colonial
structures, most notably the non-extant stone guardhouse and the still
standing Constitution Monument (photo 22).n

Furthermore, the regularity of the St. Augustine town plan contrasts
greatly with the plan of English colonial towns which were generally laid
out using a meats and bounds survey system. The Ilatter towns were
consequently highly irregular and organic rather than centrally planned.*

Two themes--the military and rellglon--dominated the history of St.
Augustlne during the First Spanish Period from 1365 until 1763. St.
Augustine was a classic example of a Spanish presidio military
settlement. Und r Spanish rule neither St. Augustine nor the surrounding
geographic area that became Spanish Florida were densely settled or
intensively developed. The area contained none of the attractions which
brought settlers to other regions of the Spanish colonial empire. There
were no gold or other precious metals, no highly fertile agricultural
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Statanant of Slignlflcanca (contlnuad)

land, and no sadantary Indian population available aa a aource of Ilabor.
Instead of a nlnlng, agricultural, or oommarclal aattlamant, St.
Auguatlina served aa a sllitary outpost and a point of departure for
Spanish missionaries seeking to Christianize Indians living In outlaying

St. Augustine vas first and foremost a strategically important
outpost In the Spanish Caribbean defense system. Spain retained St.
Augustine and the surrounding province of Florida as a buffer zone
against foreign Intrusion Into more economically valuable areas of Its
colonial enplre. The town served as a military base for protecting the
Spanish treasure fleet as It sailed homevard annually along the Gulf
Stream ladened vith gold, silver and other valuable cargo. It enabled
the Spanish to prevent foreign encroachment Into the Gulf of Mexico, the
key to the riches of New Spain. Following the founding of Virginia and
the subsequent French exploration and settlement of the Mississippi River
Valley, St. Augustine served Spain as a bastion against English and

French expansion Into the Southeast. Because of Its strategic
Importance, It vas attacked at various times by the English, the French,
pirates, and British colonists from the north. In order to prevent the

occupation of St. Augustine, the Spanish developed an elaborate system of
defense.¢+ The bulwark of the Spanish defenses and the most significant
historic property In the St. Augustine Historic District Is the Castillo
de San Marcos, constructed during the late 17th century (photo 16).* The
Castillo is a nationally significant property and as such Is a National
Historic Landmark.

The military remained an Important theme in the history of St

Augustine following the colonial period. The principal property
representing the post-colonial military In St. Augustine Is the St.
Francis Barracks and Its auxiliary buildings (photo 2 0. The St.

Francis Barracks Is the principal structure within the complex of
buildings located upon the military reservation that houses the
headquarters detachment of the Florida National Guard. The site occupied
by the St. Francis Barracks has served religious or military purposes
since it vas first settled by Franciscan missionaries upon their arrival
in 1577, twelve years after the founding of America's first permanent
mettleaent. For the following two centuries the Franciscans maintained a
convent and monastery on the site, before abandoning It to control of the
British in 1764. During their twenty year period of occupation, the
British converted the structure to military use. In subsequent order, the
Spanish, who returned to occupy Florida In 1784, and the Americans, who
assumed control of the peninsula In 1821, maintained military use of the
site. Throughout the more than four centuries of occupation, St. Francis
Barracks, a name conferred officially upon the structure about a century
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Stateaent of Significance (continued)

ago, haa been destroyed and rebuilt a number of timea. The structure
appears today auch as It did aore than two centuries ago, one of the
Ancient City's landmark colonial buildings. Since 1907, the structure
has served as the headquarters for the Florida National Guard.**

Successor to the Florida Hllltla, created by the state's first
General Assembly In 164S, the "Florida State Troops,” as the organization
was known in 1907, operated without recognition by the federal
government, like all other state military groups. In 1903, however,
Florida became the first state to adopt for Its militia the same table
of organization, arms, and methods of discipline employed by the
corresponding federal services. In that same year the National Guard
Association was formed and in 1909 the name of the Florida organization
was formerly changed to the Florida National Guard.**

In addition to Its military function, St. Augustine and Its environs
became a point of departure for Spanish missionaries seeking to
Christianize Indians in surrounding regions. Host, if not all, mission
sites and Indian settlements were located beyond the limits of the St
Augustine Historic District. Nevertheless, the district has religious
significance for Its association with St. Francis Barracks and the
Cathedral Pariah church (photo 21), one of the oldest Catholic religious
structures in the United States and the seat of the first bishopric In
Florida.e-

The St. Augustine Historic District Is also significant In the area
of commerce, particularly for Its association with the development of the
Florida tourist Industry. After the United States acquired Florida In
1821, an Influx of new settlers arrived in the territory. Including St.
Augustine. Some Spanish subjects, particularly the Hinoroans, remained
In East Florida, but the population of St. Augustine and the surrounding
area became Increasingly English speaking. A change of attitude towards
commercial development accompanied the change of flags as northern
speculators and entrepreneurs saw potential fortune In the Ancient City.
Real estate speculation fueled a boon during the early years of the
territorial period, but transportation and health problems Ilimited its
effect In St. Augustine and the surrounding area. Commercial citrus
production, a part of the economy of Florida since the first Spanish
period, was moderately successful until a serious freeze occurred In
1835. Other agricultural enterprises, such as silk production, likewise
met with limited success or outright failure.*s

Despite the expectations of many, the economic boom of the early
territorial period was shortm-lived. An Inadequate system of
transportation proved to be a major obstacle to the development of St.
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Statement of Significance (continued)

Augustine and the surrounding county. Natural barriers, particularly the
shifting sandbar at the entrance to the St.  Augustine harbor and the
svamplands which comprise much ofthe land areaof the county, hindered
access to the town. From a military viewpoint, the barriers formed an
Ideal defense position. They were. In fact, a majorreason for the
selection of St. Augustine as site of Spanish settlement. Once
entrenched there, the Spanish were virtually Immovable and readily able
to defend themselves against an Invading force.“*

The natural barriers of St. Augustine proved, however. Impediments
to travel and commercial transportation. Large cargo vessels navigated

the harbor entrance at great risk and frequently ran aground on the
treacherous sandbar. During the i&30's moat traffic between St.
Augustine and outside areas shifted from the port to the safer. If less

direct, land route along the Bellamy Road from Plcolata on the banks of
the St. Johns River. The BellamyRoad, however, was little more than a
modestly developed Indian trail, traveled by slow moving wagons and

stagecoaches. Lacking adequate transportation to the agricultural
regions of the Interior, the former capital of East Florida became
Isolated. It declined In Importance when compared with the booming

cotton producing region of Middle Florida. Despite Its Isolation, St.
Augustine began developing one Important aspect of Its economy during the
territorial period. Invalids seeking refuge from harsh northern winters
arrived annually, and promoters such as Forbes and Vignoles publicized
St. Augustine as a health resort. Even with the winter tourist trade St.
Augustine remained poor and relatively unchanged until the outbreak of
the Seminole War In 183S. The Seminole War produced only temporary
economic prosperity, however. With the agricultural Inframtruoture of
the surrounding area largely destroyed during the course of the war, St.
Augustine entered a period of economic decline during the 1640a.**

The Civil War did little to Improve economic conditions In St.
Augustine. By 1865 the city was physically dilapidated and economically
deteriorated. The Civil War had cut off the seasonal tourist trade and
further disrupted local agriculture. Many of the male residents of the

area abandoned their farms and Joined the Confederate Army. Following
the war St. Augustine retained a backward economy baaed largely on
subsistence agriculture. Its economic development was Inhibited by

geographic Isolation, a lack of marketable cash crops, and the absence of
adequate transportation facilities. As a measure of conditions there.
while the population of Florida Increased by one-third between 1860 and
1870, the population of St. Augustine declined, totaling less than that
of 1830.°

An Inadequate system of transportation continued to be the major
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Statement of Significance (continued)

Impediment to the development of St. Johns County lolloving the Civil
Mar. During the late 1860s the major avenue of transportation In the
county remained the primitive stage route from Plcolata. The
transportation problems of St. Augustine and other Isolated regions of
northeast Florida diminished during the early ISTOs when railroad
construction began. In 1870 the St. Johns Railroad completed a line from
Tocoi to St. Augustine, following the route of a mule drawn tram line the
company had begun in 18S8. Subsequently, the company added Iron rails
and factory built locomotives. An even more important railroad, the
Jacksonville, St. Augustine and Halifax, reached St. Augustine in 1883.
The construction of railroads marked a new period in the history of St.
Augustine. It served as a catalyst for the revitalization of the city
and for the growth of Its economy and population.'*

While the construction of the railroad was the key event in the
development of the city during the Ilate nineteenth century, the key
Individual was Henry M. Flagler. Flagler visited St. Augustine In 1885
and envisioned the Ancient City becoming the Winter Mewport, a resort
center for wealthy northerners. To that end Flagler constructed two
major hotels in St. Augustine, the Ponce de Leon and the Alcazar, and
subsequently purchased a third, the Cordova (photo 23), to add to his
complex. He later established the offices and shops of the Florida East
Coast Railway at St. Augustine, providing another major source of
employment for residents of the county. The Flagler Boom left an
Indelible Impression on the physical appearance of St. Augustine. Many
of the architecturally significant commercial and residential buildings
in the district date from that period (photos 23-24, 26-27, 28). *e

The Flagler era In St. Augustine and St. Johns County had run Its
course by the first years of the twentieth century. During the 1890s,
particularly after 1895 when a severe freeze devastated the citrus
Industry In North Florida, Henry Flagler Increasingly focused his
attention on his railroad and hotel developments In the southern part of
the state. Nevertheless, St. Augustine continued attracting tourists
and winter residents at a steady If unspectacular rate. Despite the
fears of many, the local tourist Industry prospered during World War |,
as many wealthy tourists who previously traveled overseas Instead came to
Florida and visited St. Augustine. In 1917, the construction of the
Dixie Highway, a brick road linking St. Augustine to Jacksonville further
augmented the transportation system of the city. As was true with the
railroad, settlement and economic development, particularly tourism,
followed Its course and the course of other roadways which were built to
the city during the 1920a.*e

A Florida land boom followed World War |I. Although concentrated In
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Statement of Significance (continued)

south Florida, it stimulated growth in all areas of the state, including
St. Augustine.** Many significant commercial and residential buildings
in the St. Augustine District date from the boom time, including the

Atlantic National Bank, the only true skyscraper in the Ancient City
(photo 28). An architectural style found in the St. Augustine Historic
District in significant numbers during the 1920s is the Spanish Revival

(photo 28 >. The Spanish Revival was closely associated with the
Florida boom. In some ways the Spanish Revival was a natural extension
of the Spanish Colonial architecture in St. Augustine. Furthermore,

many of its distinctive elements were pioneered in the Spanish
Renaissance buildings constructed during the Flagler era and Mission
Revival buildings constructed contemporaneously in California. The style
was popularized during the Panama-California International Exposition at
San Diego in 1915, and by the 1920s had swept California, Florida and
other sunbelt states. The prototype of the style in Florida was Villa
Vizcaya, built in Miami from 1914-191& for Chicago industrialist James
Deering, whose family had formerly wintered in St. Augustine. The
architect moat closely associated with the Spanish Revival is Addison
Mizner, who designed a number of outstanding Spanish Revival Buildings in
Palm Beach, Boca Raton and other Florida cities.*.

The St. Augustine Historic District also has political significance
at the local level. Since its founding in 1565 St. Augustine has served
as the seat of government for the Spanish and the British in the colonial
province of Florida. Since 1821 it has served as the county seat of St.
Johns County. Together with Escambia County, St. Johns County is the
oldest political subdivision of the State of Florida. It dates from July
21, 1821 when Andrew Jackson, as military governor of the territory,
divided East and West Florida into counties. Escambia County encompassed
the area between the Perdido and Suwannee Rivera, and St. Johns County
the territory east of the Suwannee.** Among the Important government

buildings are the St. Johns County Courthouse, located in the former
Cordova Hotel (photo 23), and Government House, the former United States
Post Office now the headquarters of the Historic St. Augustine

Preservation Board. Government House, completed in 1935, is the most
recently constructed building considered contributing to the district.

Finally, the St. Augustine Historic District is significant for its
architecture, spanning the period 1672 to 1935. While the district is
most noteworthy and renowned for its colonial architecture, the pre-1821
buildings within its boundaries number slightly more than thirty and form
a relatively small percentage of the total number of buildings. Other
significant architectural periods represented in the district include the
Territorial Period (1821-1845), the Flagler Era (1880s and 1890s) and the
Florida Boom (1920s). Distinctive architectural styles Include Spanish



Wf*a«« 1MO004 OH$ MO. i014-OOH
) Mipiroa 10-3i-t7

United Stetns Itepartment of

National Park Sarvica For NPS UM only
National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form dafes entered
Continuation sheet Item number 8 Page 8

StateiR*nt of Slgnlflcanca <continued)

Colonlalp the Carpenter Gothic, Second Empire, Hoorleh Revival, the Queen
égmzeé) the Colonial Revival, the Spanleh Revival and the Bungalow (photoe

The district hae further architectural significance for Its
association with a number of Important architects. Among them was
Alexander Jackson Davis, perhaps the most Influential architect

practicing In the United States prior to the Civil War. He provided
lHlustrations for the Influential works of designer Andrew Jackson
Downing and designed a number of state capltols: Indiana, Illinois, Ohio,
and the best known. North Carolina. He designed many buildings In the
G**eek Revival and Italian Villa styles, but Is best remembered for his
Gothic Revival work. He popularized Gothic architecture In the United
States with his book Rural Residences published In 1837. His clients
Included author Washington Irving, Inventor Samuel F. B. Horse, and New
York City Mayor William Spaulding. For Spaulding he designed "Lyndhurst”
which later served as the residence of Jay Gould and presently Is a house
museum operated by the National Trust for Historic Preservation.“* His
work Is represented In the St. Augustine District by the Bronson Cottage
at 252 St. George Street (photo 25).

Another Important architect whose work Is represented In St.
Augustine Is James Renwlick. Renwlck was a pioneer In the Introduction of
the Romanesque and Second Empire styles to the United States. He Is
recognized today as the architect of Grace Church and St. Patrick's
Cathedral In New York City and the Smithsonian Institution In Washington,
D. C. Renwlck was a long-time winter resident of St. Augustine. After a
fire gutted the Cathedral of St. Augustine In 1887, Renwick was chosen as
the architect for the reconstruction. He added the bell tower (photo 21)
and designed the bishop's throne, the pulpit, and the altar of the
Blessed Virgin to the left of the main altar.**

Franklin W. Smith was a contemporary of Renwilck In St. Augustine.
Originally from Boston, he Introduced the Moorish Revival Style and

poured concrete construction to St. Augustine. He designed and built
the largest of the Moorish Revival buildings, the Cordova (originally
Casa Monica) Hotel, during the late 1880s (photo 23). Impressed with

this innovative construction material, Henry Flagler had his great hotels
and churches constructed of poured concrete. Smith was one of the great
visionary architects of the Victorian period and his work Is prominently
featured In St. Augustine.**

From the colonial period, one of the most significant architects was
Mariano de la Rocque, who served as the Royal Engineer in East Florida
from 1784-1793. Rocque designed the parish church, now the
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Basilica-Cathedral. He also drew several of the best colonial maps of
the city, which are now standard references for archaeologists and
historians.="

Professional schools of architecture were mainly a post-Clvil War
phenomenon in the United States. As a result, many of the early
practitioners were either builders or engineers who designed buildings
on the side. One was S. Bangs Mance, who designed the Lyon Building
at the corner of King and St. George Streets and the houses at 11 and
13 Bridge Street.ee

Notable among twentieth century professional architects who lived

and worked in St. Augustine were Fred Henderich and F. A
Hollingsworth. Henderlch was the outstanding local designer of
bungalows. Characteristic of his work was natural finish wood

shingles, palmetto tree porch posts, and coquina fireplaces and
chimneys. He designed many houses along south St. George Street and
the large residence at 178 Avenida Henendez. **

F. A. Hollingsworth was noted for his application of the Spanish
Revival style to many buildings in St. Augustine. During the 1920s he
redesigned the Hoorlsh Revival Vaill Block in this style and was the
architect of the Atlantic Bank Building, St. Augustine's only
skyscraper (photo 28>. He was also a restoration architect. He
did restoration work for the Florida National Guard on the St. Francis
Barracks after the 1916 fire (photo 20), for the Carnegie Commission
during the 1930s, and for the St. Augustine Historical Society during
the early 1930s.

The St. Augustine District also has archaeological significance.
Since the 1930s archaeologists have conducted surveys and excavations
within its boundaries. The largest and most significant site within
the district is the town plan Itself which dates to c¢. 1600.
Additional sites are spatially distributed within the blocks and lots
which form the town plan. They include the foundations of buildings
and outbuildings, wells and trash pits. Historic archaeology has
provided the basis for the reconstruction of many buildings in St
Augustine. The archaeological sites within the district are an
Important component of its significance.
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The St. Augustine Historic District numbers among Florida's most
architecturally significant areas. It contains the greatest
concentration of colonial buildings in the state and additional
significant buildings from the Flagler and Florida Land Boom Periods
of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Its built
environment is closely associated with the founding, settlement and
subsequent development of the nation's oldest city during the Spanish,
British and United States periods of occupation. Its architectural
significance is enhanced by associations with a number of Important
architects and builders, among them Alexander Jackson Dauvis, James
Renwick and Franklin W. Smith.

Beyond its architecture, the significance of the St. Augustine
District is based on its association with the individuals and groups
who resided within its Ilimits or who were responsible for its
development. These Individuals are too numerous to list
comprehensively, but Include Pedro Menendez de Aviles, the town's
founder. Governor Mendez Canco, who laid out its present plan, and
Henry Flagler, who revitllized it during the late nineteenth century.

The district is also associated with events that have proved
significant to the history of St. Augustine, the State of Florida, and
the United States. St. Augustine was founded in 15G5 and settled on
its present site in 156G, making i1t the oldest continuous settlement
in the United States. Subsequently, it was associated with important
events that influenced the historical development of the southeastern
area of our nation. It was successfully defended by Spanish despite
assaults by Sir Francis Drake in 1S8G, Governor James Moore of South
Carolina in 1702, and Governor James Oglethorpe of Georgia in 1740.
During the late nineteenth century i1t was the center for Henry
Flagler's development of a railroad and hotel empire which opened much
of the east coast of Florida to development and helped formed the
economic character of the state.

St. Augustine is one of the most historically significant cities
in the United States. Its historic district contains properties which
have historical, architectural and archaeological significance up to
the national level. It is an architectural mosaic, including a
variety of buildings embodying a number of different styles and
periods of development. While the colonial buildings are an
outstanding and Integral component of the district, they are
relatively few in number and, in many cases, have been substantially
altered. The great majority of buildings contributing to the district
date from the post-colonial period. They, too, form an integral part
of the St. Augustine Historic District.
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eibid., p. 29.

*William R. Adams, et al, "Historic Sites and Buildings Survey of
St.  Augustine, Florida"” (St. Augustine, 1980), pp. 87-89.

*Reps, pp. 26-30.

«John Jay Tepaske, The Governershlo of Spanish Florida. 1700-1763.
(Durham, North Carolina, 1964), p. 6.

**Abbott Charles Mohr, "St. Francis Barraolcs; the Franciscans In
Florida,” Florida Historical Quarterly. VII (1929), 221jCharles P. Mowat,
"St. Francis Barracks, St. Augustine,» Florida Historical Quarterly.
XXI (1943), 268-271. The best description of the use of building
materials and techniques In the colonial era Is provided In Albert
Manucy, The Houses of St. Awuoustlne. 1565-1821 (St. Augustine, 1962);
National Guard of the United States. State of Florida. Historical
Annual, (no publisher, 1939), xxIll.

** Histories Annual, xxvl.
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esAllen Morris, The Florida Handbook. 1967-68. (Tallahassee, 1968)
p. 249.
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eeRoOsalie Thorne McKenna, "James Renwick, Jr. and the Second Empire
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"*St. Augustine Record. April 7, 1937.

meAdams, et al, p. 135.

eeibid., p. 136.

eeibid., pp. 136-137.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION (continued)

The boundary generally follows the plan of the colonial city of St. Augustine.

It follows the lines of the colonial city on the north and west, as defined by
Orange Street and Cordova Street respectively. On the east it is defined by

the Matanzas Bay, a natural barrier. The southern boundary narks the extent of
the concentrated development of the colonial city. The overall boundary extends
to the west, beyond the limits of the colonial city, to Include the Ponce de Leon
and Alcazar Hotel, two of the landmark buildings in St. Augustine.



ST. AUGUSTINE HISTORIC DISTRICT

SITE INVENTORY

ADDRBSS/NAME

ARTILLERY LANE - Between
4 The Oldest Store

AVENIDA MENENDEZ - South

- Castillo de San Marcos
(Port Marion)

12 Teepee Town
Intersection of Hypolita
21

22

24 Matanzas Apartments
32 Monson Restuarant and

Intersection of Treasury

44 Bspinosa-Sanchez House

46 Drysdale House

DATE ; STYLE STATUS

Avilas and St. George Streets

1910-1917 Frame Vernacular

from the Castillo de San Marcos

1672 Military Structure
Street

1917-1924 Mediterranean Revival

1910-1917 Mediterranean Revival

1914-1917 Mediterranean Revival
Lounge
St.

1702-1756 Spanish Colonial

1888 St. Augustine

Colonial Revival

Intersection of Cathedral street

111 City Dock Building
118 The North House

120 Marion Motor Lodge
135

138 Whetstone's Bayfront

1924-1930 Mediterranean Revival
1961 Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)
1910-1917 Frame Vernacular
Inn

C
C
C
NC

(@

NC

NC



Intersection of Bridge St.

142

146

154

156

160

162

164

166

168

172 Rovira-Hernandez House

176 Brooks Villa
178

AVILES STREET - South from King Street

1885-1893
1885-1893
1865-1885
1924-1930
1910-1917
1894-1899
1865-1885
1865-1885
1917-1924
1800-1808

1891
1910-1917

3 Hospital of Our Lady of Guadeloupe

7

9

1966

1885-1888

1911

Intersection of Artillery Lane

11
12 Sequi House

20 Fatio House

Intersection of Cadiz St.

21 Solana House
31
32 O'Reilly House

33 Fontane House

1864-1885
1702-1703

c. 1800

1803-1820

1885-1888

1788

1885

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Mediterranean Rev.

Frame Vernacular
Bungalow
Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Mediterranean Rev.

Frame Vernacular
Moorish Revival

Frame Vernacular

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Mediterranean Rev.

Frame Vernacular
Spanish Colonial

Spanish Colonial

Spanish Colonial
Frame Vernacular
Spanish Colonial

Frame Verncular



35 1904-1910 Frame Vernacular C

Papy House 1«>01=1817 Spanish Colonial C

BRIDGE STREET - West from Marine Street

11 1889 Queen Anne C

15 1889 St. Augustine C
Colonial Revival

15¢* 1917-1924 Masonry Vernacular C

17 1865-1888 Frame Vernacular C

19 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular C

Intersection of Charlotte St.

22-24 1924-1930 St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Intersection ofSt. George St.
42 c. 1840 Frame Vernacular C

46 Canova-Dow House c. 1840 Spanish Colonial C

CADIZ STREET - West from Charlotte Street
11 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular

Intersection of Avilas Street

26 1917-1924 Bungalow C
26% 1924-1930 Garage Apartment C
28 1904-1910 Frame Vernacular I

CATHEDRAL street - Between Charlotte and St. George Streets

8 1888 Mediterranean Revival C
12 1888 Mediterranean Revival C
24-28 Atlantic Bank Bldg. 1927 Mediterranean Revival C



36 Basilica-Cathedral

1797

Spanish Colonial

CHARLOTTE STREET - South from the Castillo de San Marcos

Intersection of Cuna Street

26 Blacksmith Shop

30
32
33
36

40
46
48

1899-1904

1969

1899-1904
1904-1910
1894-1899
1894-1899

1885-1888
1910-1917
1894-1899

Intersection of Hypolita Street

54
54H

56
57

58 Luciano de Herrera

House

80-92 Monson Apartments

1914-1917

1914-1917

1924-1930
1924-1930
1917-1924
1914-1917
1967

1924-1930

Intersection of Treasury Street

124 \aill Block

Crosses Cathedral Square

1888

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

British Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular
Colonial Revival

Colonial Revival

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular
Garage Apartment

Garage Apartment

Mediterranean Rev.

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Mediterranean Rev.

Masonry Vernacular

O 6o o o

(@)

O O O O

C



206 Watson House 1968 British Colonial
(Reconstruction)

212 1885-1888 Masonry Vernacular

INntersection of Cadiz Street

226 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular
228
230 1885-1893 Masonry Vernacular

Intersection of Bridge Street

245 1904-1910 Frame Vernacular
247 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular
249 1917-1924 Garage Apartment
251 1885-1893 Frame Vernacular
257 Manuel de Herrera House 1955 Spanish' Colonial

(Reconstruction)

269 Alexander-Garrido House 1966 Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

271 Alexander-O*Donovan- 1964 Spanish Colonial
O'Reilly House (Reconstruction)
1924-1930 Garage Apartment

CORDOVA STREET - South from Orange Street

5 Foundation Museum 1967 St. Augustine
(Reconstruction)

13*s 1904-1910 Bungalow

17 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular

25 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular

Intersection of Cuna Street
31 Thompson Bailey Baker House

39

MC

NC

NC

NC



41

43*1 1924-1930
45 1885-1894
47 1889-1904
49 1889-1904

Intersection of Hypolita Street
51 Villalula House 1880-1884
Intersection of Treasury Street

61 Security First Federal
69 Bell Telephone

Intersection of King Street

95 Cordova Hotel 1886-1896
115-117 Ammidown Cottage 1873-1896
Intersection of Palm Row

125

143 1888-1893
145 1904-1910
149 1899-1904
Intersection of Bridge Street

155 1865-1884
159 1885-1888
163 Jewish Synagogue 1923

165 1924-1930
171

173 1917-1924
175 1917-1924
177 1917-1924
179 1917-1924

-6-

Garage Apartment
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Mediterranean Rev.

Moorish Revival

St. Augustine
colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Mediterranean Rev.

Masonry Vernacular

Bungalow
Bungalow
Bungalow

Bungalow

NC

NC

(@)

NC

O O o o

O O O O



181

CUNA STREET - West from Charlotte Street

17

19

23

25

26 Cerveau House

26 (rear) Privy

27 Wells Print Shop

29

Intersection of St.

46 Coguina Warehouse

46% Rodrigues House

54

1917-1924

1899-1904

1899-1904

1865-1885

1865-1885

1969

1917-1924

1899-1904

Street

1966

1969

1865-1884

Intersection of Spanish Street

59

60

62

66

68

70

1865-1884
1865-1888
1889-1894
1865-1885
1865-1885

1885-1894

Bungalow

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

British Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Frame Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Carpenter Gothic

Queen Anne

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

NC

NC



HYPOLITA STREET-

West from Charlotte Street

15 1910-1917 St. Augustine
Colonial Revival
17 1910-1917 Frame Vernacular
20 1924-1930 St. Augustine
Colonial Revival
21 1924-1930 Garage Apartment
35 Casa de Hidalgo 1965 Masonry Vernacular

Intersection of St. George Street

56
58
59

61
62
63A
63
64
66
70

c. 1850 St. Augustine
Colonial Revival
1894-1899 Frame Vernacular
1865-1885 Frame Vernacular
1924-1930 Frame Vernacular
1865-1885 Frame vernacular
1865-1888 Frame Vernacular
1870 Frame Vernacular

KING STREET-West from Avenida Henendez

1-;3-5 Potter’s Wax Museum 1888 Masonry Vernacular

11 Florida Heritage House 1965 Masonry Vernacular

31 tfoolworth's

1955 Masonry Vernacular

Intersection of St. George St.

48 Government House 1716/1936 Spanish Colonial/
Spanish Colonial Rev.
74 Hotel Ponce de Leon 1887 Spanish Renaissance
Revival

NC

NC
NC

NC
NC



75 Alcazar Hotel 1889 Spanish Renaissance
Revival

MARINE STREET- South from Artillery Lane and Avenida Menendez

10 1924-1930 St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

28 St.Augustine Art Assn. 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular
30 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular

Intersection Bravo Lane

32
35 RodriquezHouse 1702-1763 Spanish Colonial
38 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular

Intersection Bridge Street

43 SanchezHouse 1804-1821 Spanish Colonial
44 1924-1930 Garage Apartment
46 Duddington Apartments 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular
47 Marin House 1791-1799 Spanish Colonial
50

S3 Puello House 1812-1821 Mediterranean Revival
56 Gonzalez-Jones House 1702-1763 Spanish Colonial
59 1839 Frame Vernacular
60 1885-1893 Frame Vernacular
63 1865-1885 Frame Vernacular
64 1910-1917 Frame Vernacular
66 1894-1899 Frame Vernacular
69



71 Rovira-Dewhurst House 1799 Frame Vernacular
73

74 De La Rosa House 1963 Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Intersection of St. Francis

82 St. Francis Barracks 1724-1737 Spanish Colonial

PALM ROw - Between St. George and Cordova Streets

1 1905 Frame Vernacular
2 1905 Frame Vernacular
3 1905 Frame Vernacular
5 1905 Frame Vernacular
6 1905 Frame Vernacular
7 1905 Frame Vernacular

PLAZA - Between Cathedral Street and King Street; St. George Street

and Charlotte Street

Plaza Public Market 1824 Masonry Vernacular
Plaza Bandstand 1917-1924 Mediterranean Rev.
Constitutional Obelisk Public Monument

ST. FRANCIS STREET - West from Marine Street

14 Alvarez House 1702-1727 Spanish Colonial
18 Webb Memorial Museum 1923 Masonry Vernacular
22 Tovar House 1791 Spanish Colonial

Intersection of Charlotte Street

25 1885-1893 Queen Anne

-10-

NC
NC

O O O O o



28

31

32

34

INntersection of St.

36

41

50

Llamblas House

1833-1838

1763

1865-1885

1885-1893

George Street

1899-1904

1865-1885

1904-1910

Frame Vernacular
Spanish Colonial
Frame Vernacular

Italianate

Bungalow

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular

ST.GEORGE STREET - South! from the City Gates

City Gates

1

2

3

Intersection of Tomalito Lane

14 Genoply School House 1788-1810

16

18

19

21

22

25

30

31

33

The OIld Mill

The Gallegos House

The Ribera HOuse

The Gomez House

Maria Triay House

Florencia House

35-39 de HIlta Gonzalez

House

1885-1888

1963

1964

1971

1904-1910

1964

1964

1980

11-

Spanish Colonial

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Frame Vernacular

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC



41 Avero House

42 Salcedo House

43 de Mesa Sanchez Hse.

46 Arrives House

52 Rodriquez-Avero-
Sanchez House

54 Paredes-Dodge House

55 de Burgo Pellicer
House

56

59 Oliveros House

60 Sanchez de Ortigosa
House

1735-1743

1962

1764
1710-1740
1753-1762

1803-1813

1976

1924-1930

1965

1966

INntersection of Cuna street

62 Benet Store

63 Esteban Benet House

67 McHenry House

70 Ortega House
72 villalonga House

74 Acosta House

91 Santoyo House

97 Marin-Hasset House

1967

1963

1967

1968

1972
1976

1966

1969

Intersection of Hypolita Street

105 Sanchez-Burt House
106

107

1809-1829

1924-1930

Spanish Colonial

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
Spanish Colonial
Spanish Colonial

Spanish Colonial

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)
Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial
(Reconstruction)

Spanish Colonial

Mediterranean Rev.

NC

00 o

NC

HC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC
NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

C



110
112-114
116-116A
118-124

119

121 St.George Pharmacy

123-127
128-132
133-135
138

139

1904-1910

1904-1910

1917-1924

1917-1924

1894-1899

INntersection of Treasury Street

143 Peck House
152-156 Mission Bldg.

158-162

Crosses Cathedral Square

206 Lyon Building

214 Horrytiner-Lindsey
House

223 Trinity Episcopal
Church

224 Paredes-Sequi-Macmillan 1702-1763

House

Intersection of Palm Row

232 Stanbury Cottage

240 Villa Flora

1702-1763

1885-1888

1885-1893

1886-1887

1702-1763

1825

1857-1869

1898

-13-

Masonry Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Mediterranean Rev,

Spanish Colonial
Moorish Revival

Masonry Vernacular

Moorish Revival

Masonry Vernacular

Gothic Revival

Spanish Colonial

Carpenter Gothic

Masonry Vernacular

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC

NC



241 St. Joseph's Academy

244

246

250 Canova-Prince-Murat

House

1874-1876

1905-1910

1904-1910

1790-1821

Intersection of Bridge Street

252 Bronson Cottage

256
260 Neligan House
262

264

1876

1851-1853

1867

1924-1930

1910-1917

267 Cathedral Lyceum Hall 1928

268 Upham Cottage
271
271>i
272 Magnolia Inn

275

279 Garcia Dummett House

280

Intersection of St.

282 stickney House
285

286

287 George Estes House

288 Edgar Estes House

1982-1893
c. 1925
1924-1930

c. 1887

1791-1795
1885-1893
Francis street
c. 1873
1894-1899
1917-1924
1910-1917

1904-1910

-14-

Gothic Revival
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

Spanish Colonial

colonial Revival
Colonial Revival
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Masonry Vernacular
Queen Anne
Mediterranean Rev.
Garage Apartment

Queen Anne

Second Empire

Frame Vernacular

Mediterranean Rev.

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Bungalow

Frame Vernacular

O O O O o O o O

=
O

O o

O O O o O



SPANISH STREET - South from Orange Street

11 1885-1888
21 1865-1885
24*1 1924-1930
26 1917-1924
27 1894-1899
29 1885-1885
31

33 1865-1885
34 1874-1885
35 1865-1885
36 1865-1885
37 1865-1885

Intersection of Cuna Street

42 Triay House c. 1806

44 1924-1930
45 1865-1885
46 1821-1845
48 1865-1884
58 1885-1888

Intersection of Hypolita Street

62 1801-1807
72 1899-1904
74 1865-1884
76 c. 1840

78 1884-1888

-15-

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Masonry Vernacular

Masonry Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Frame Vernacular

St. Augustine
Colonial Revival

Spanish Colonial
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular

Frame Vernacular

Spanish Colonial
Frame Vernacular
Frame Vernacular
Frame Verncular

Frame Vernacular

NC

NC

O O O o


















































































































































































































































































































CTIONS

INSTRU

s EE

IForm 10301 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PROPERTY MAP FORM

(Type all entries - attach to or enclose with map) b Bt b
0707022/ 17///70

STATE

Florida

COUNTY

St. Johns

FOR NPS USE ONLY

COMMON: £ Augustine

AND/OR HISTORIC:

STREET AND NUM BER:

CITY OR TOWN:

St. Augustine

Florid

STATE: CODE |COUNTY:

Johns

CODE

SOURCE:

U. S. Geological Survey

pEALE: 1:24, 000

DATE: 1956

TO BE INCLUDED ON ALL MAPS

1. Property broundaries where required.
2. North arrow.

3. Latitude and longitude reference.
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National Register of Historic Places
Memo to File

Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.



STATE or n rnioA

OEI»A«TM«NT 0® STATE FLORIDA MASTER R.cc.«nv<«t> MAR 17 nn
Ot Regorga Y SITE FILE FDAHR'VI 8C2 -=
OS-HSe-SA R«v.9 74
Site No. fl-SJei 1003--
Site Name DuiTimott House 830*-
Other N3fne(s) for Sitt Dununctt-Hardee House, St. Francis Inn 930==
Other Nos. for Site 906==
Type of Site Building 838="*
County St. Johns 808==
Instructions for locating site (oraddress) 279 St. George
St. Auaustint™ . Fiorina
R13*»
Owner of Site: Name ~ Edwar® s and Gerti'udc P. Willey 902==
Address 279i. $"i..George St.. St. Aucu.stino. Florida 903 -
Occupailt, Tenant, or Mananer:
Name 904
Address 905=*
Reporter {or local content):
Name Edward S. Wiliev 816==
Address same as above 817*=
Recorder:
Name & Title Phillip Wecrndli, Historic Sites Specialist 818*=
Address FDAHRM. The Capitol, Tallahassee, Florida 819==
Survey Date October. 1974 820*= Tvoe Ownershio Private C48«*
Inventory Status Within St. Augustine N.P. District OH-"*

Previous Survoy(s), Excavation(s) or Collection(s): {enter title of survey;date; whother fedmal. state,

county Of heat; locution of survey reportfsK ertd rrjteraf collected).
H.A.B.S.
1961
Federal
Library of Congress

Washington, D.C

Photographic Record Numbers

039*=

8CO»=



i.0cetion of Site (Specific):
Map Reference (incl. scale & date) USGS 7.5" 1:24000 St. Augustine Quad 809-=

Township Range Section /«Sec. % Sec. 14 Sec.
7S . 30N ;! ﬁ H 812+
LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES DEFINING A POLYGON LOCATING THE PROPERTY
LATITVJOC LONGITUDE
P(»Int Otgrc«s Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutsts Seconds
LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES DEFINING THE CENTER POINT OF A PROPERTY OF
LESS THAN TEN ACRES
UTM 2 17 E 469940 N 3306210
Global Reference Code 884-
Description of Site:
Type Classification
Site Size (approx, acreage of property) less than one acre 833-«
Present Condition of Site;
Ch«ck one Ch«ck one CIMck ona if approprtata
Of AJterad 863** 1 E*cwiient 863— 1 Oewnorated 863““ 1 Movtd 863«
[ UnaiMftd 863*= 3 Good 863“ J Sum$ 863“ B Original Sita 863““

1 Datvoved 883“ [ Fair 863-"\* [ Unaxpowd 663““

Present & Original Physical Appearartce (use continuation sheet if necessary)

The Dummett House is a three-story masonry building constructed
of native coquina block on the first and second stories. These
walls are plastered on the interior and exterior with the exterior
painted white with brown trim. The overall shape of the structure
IS a parallelogram, the corners not being squared, measuring 38' X
58'. The third story is composed of a mansard roof of wood frame
construction with asbestos shingles. Eight shed roof dormers
interrupt the roof line at regular intervals along three eleva-
tions as does a single interior stuccoed chimney. At the base
of the roof is a brown-colored box cornice with paired decorative
brackets.

The courtyard of the north elevation comprises the main
facade. This facade is dominai-ed hy a two-story Ioorch running
approximately two-thirds of the length of the wall. Turned
wooden posts support the gallery at both levels with a pent roof

862--



STATE OF FLORIDA Sl_ta No. 88\]81
DEPARTMENT OF STATE Sit. Nam. Dummett House

Divitton of Arctiivn, Mittoiy
and Racordt Managamani
DSHSP-3E 7-72

CONTINUATION SHEET
Present & Original Physical Appearance (cont.)

topping the second story porch. A spindle band connects the tops
of the posts while a plain balustrade completes the second story
porch. The fenestration is regular and composed of two-over-two
double-hung windows set flush Into the walls with plain sills.

Most of the windows in the building are of this type. Two dormers
project from the roof on this elevation. The main entry is a single
wooden panel door which opens into a large hall with a stairway.

Facing St. George Street is the west facade which has a
regular fenestration with two dormers in the roof. A street
balcony is the main feature of this elevation. The posts, roof,
and trim are the same as with the north porch but the balcony
has additional support from heavy rods with turnbucklcs. A corner
brace of wood gives support to the point where the balcony continues
around and alongf; the south elevation. The windows behind the
balcony differ from the others in that they are nine-over-nine
double-hung and much longer and wider than the rest of the windows.
Access to the balcony is gained through a large single wooden door
on the south side.

The balcony is the only outstanding feature on the south
facade which otherwise is plain with a regular fenestration,
a single panel entrance on the first floor, and four dormers.
The east elevation has a small ell which rises three stories
forming a flush end in the roof line.

The first floor contains, in addition to the entrance hall,
five rooms including a kitchen plus one and one-half baths.
Both the second and third floors are composed of seven rooms
and four baths with a kitchen on the third level.

There is a small (200 x 29'), two-story building to the
northeast of the main house, placed parallel to and alongside
the courtyard. The date of construction of this building is
unknown, but it is said to have been on the property when purchased
by Colonel Dummett in 1838.

The house was constructed sometime during, or imm.ediately
after, the year 1791. It was original(ljy a two-story structure,
the third story roost likely being added by John L. ilson, a
former owner, in 1888. The extent of alterations prior to this
date is unknown.

The Dummett House is a good example of the St. Augustine Plan
characterized by the street balcony and main entry through a porch
or loggia opening onto a courtyard. With the addition of the
mansard roof the house provides a good lesson in how many of the
houses in St. Augustine underwent changes during the late nineteenth
1(::enr'ﬁury in an attempt to "medemize" them in keeping with popular
ashion.



s..No 8SJ81
STATE or FLORIDA
Shwition o< Atch vi<. Hidlont t*N*m* Dununett House
O Recora Mansoomant " HISTORIC SITE DATA SUPPLEMENT

OSHSF"B Ra«.«T4

Present Use (check one or more as appropriate)

G Agricultural 850== O Government 8S0— [ Park 850— G Trantportation 850—
G Commgrclal 850== G Itrduttriai 850— Q@ Private Be»«dence8S0** Olh*. (Specify):

O Educaiionai 850== G Military 8S0— D Raiigiout 850— G 850—
G Enisrtsmmeni 850== G Museum 8S0— O Scientific 850— [] 850=-

Period (check one or more as appropriate)
O PraColumiMan  S427* D lethCaniury S4J3*- G ISthCamury S43» 1 20lh Century B42»

t entury thCertlury - r*i Century
16th C 842" ITthCertl 842-* D 19rti C 842«

Specific Dates: Beginning 1791 844==Ending 1838 846=
Areas of Significance (check one or more as appropriate)
O Aboriginal O Education 810" G Political 910" [ Urban Planning 910"
Prehistoric 1 Engineering 910" 1 RaligiorUPhi Other (Spoerfyi:
D Aboriginal 1 Industry 910" losoohy 910— G 910—
Historic O Invention 910" [ Science G 910—
Q Agricullure [ Landscape G Sculpture 910" G 910-r
B Afchltectura 910-* Architecture OIOr™ Q Social/Human- G 910°*
3 Art 910=> G Literature 910" itarian 910" G 910—
G Commerce 910" G Military G Theater 910"
G Communication* 910-* G Music 910** [ Transportation 910*"
G Conservation 910~*

Thematic Classification:

U Abasrginal 912-* G Military 912— Other (Specify):

Q Arctlllectural 912« G Political 912— G 912—
G The Art* 912== G Society 912— G 912—
G Ekploralion ft Sttllemanl 912== G ScrerKe & Technology 912== G 912-

Statement of Significance (use continuation sheet if necessary)

The Dununett House is characteristic of the St. Augustine
Plan dwelling dating from the late eighteenth century or early
nineteenth century. Its present appearance provides a good
example of how many of the old houses in St. Augustine were
"modernized” to )ceep up with fashion.

The house was probably built for Caspar Garcia after
1791 when he received a Spanish King's Grant of land. Garcia
was a First Class Sergeant in the Third Battalion of the
Infantry of Cuba. The most important person who owned the
house was Col. Thomas Henry Dummett, a wealthy sugar planter
from Barbados. Forced from the islands by a slave uprising,
he came to Florida and established a 3500 acre sugar plan-
tation near New Smyrna. During the Second Seminole War his
plantation was destroyed and he was forced to flee. The
house was also owned by Lt. Col. William Joseph Hardee who
was appointed Commandant of Cadets at West Point in 1856.
The house has subseqviently served as a boarding house and

later as an inn under various names. 911==



Remarks & Recommendations:

835*
Major Bibliographic References:

Dictionary of American Biography. Duman Malone, ed. New York:
Charles Scribner's Sons, n.d.

Dummett, Anna Marie. "Remembrances of the old Plantation,"
Literary Florida (February, 1949).

East Florida Spanish Papers. Library of Congress, Washington,
D.C.

Hebei, lantha Bond. "The Dummetts of North East Florida."
Unpublished manuscript (1968) in St. Augustine Historical
Society Files, St. Augustine.

St, Augustine Historical Society. Collection of maps, manu-
scripts, measured drawings, photographs, sketches, views
and other historical records and objects.

Strickland, Alice. "The Dummett Family Saga,” The Journal of
the Halifax Historical Society, 1l (n.d.).
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

WASO Fotm+ 177 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR .
rir J»m 1M4i NATIONAL PARK tCRVICE |Q0a0

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

It*
igu
St. Jonns County Worlting No. MW 21 m
FLORIDA Fed. Reg. Date: 3/FTj
Date Due: - \//
o Action:
O mubminion RETURN.
O nomination by person or local government REJECT.
Q owner objection Federal Agency:
1 appeal
Subetantive Review: O sample O request Jappeal 1 NR decision
Reviewer's comments:
Recom./Criteria
Reviewer
Discipline
Data
:inuation sheet
Nomination retumw fof: —{8ERRIeg| gorrections chad betov”-A T L J /*x a* rjit

—substantive reasons discutaed below  fJiIUL ¢ /

AP\ 2 tA70-(NKH-

1. Name

2. Location

3. Classification ysS tn/ryi_

OMagory OwnersNp Saw OolteJslyii<H'ssase« h'll*

Public Acquisition t i SA m e

A Owner of Property

& Location of Legal Descriptien

A Rapreaeistation in ExMInf Surveys

Has this property bean determined eligible? 1 yet L1no
. N\

7. Oeacription QaC M.

" VAN
Condition Cbsdkons ] h |
[1exosiiem 1 datsrioratsd [ unaltsrad
—1good I rulna —JaNarad
1 lair 1 unaxpowd

Oeacriba the present and original (H known) physical appearanoa

1 summary paragraph
1 complctencts

1 clarity

[ alterationsAntagrlty
[1dates

D boundary teletSion



8. Signtficanca

Rtriod Atmi of Significanoa-CKeck and justify below

Specific dates Builder/Architect
Statement of SignificaiKe (in one pvagnph)

O summary paragraph

Q applicable criteria

O justification of areas checked

O relating significance to the resource

O context

O relationship of integrity to significance
O justification of exception

O other

9. Major BibliograpMeal Raferenoaa

10. GeograpMcal Data

Acreage of nominated property
Quadrangle name
UTM References

Verbal boundary description and justification

11. Form Prepared By

12. State Hiatoric PresanratkMi Officer Cartifkation
The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

national state
State Historic Preservation Officar signature
title data

13. Other

DMaps
CH Photographs
O Other

Questions concaming this nomination may be directed to.

Sim. Date Phone:

«PO »H-4S0

Comments for any imm may be continued on an attached sheet
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FIDRICA DETRIMENT OFSTATE

George Rrestone
Secretary o( Stale
DIVISION OF ARCHIVES.

HISTORY AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT
The Capitol. Tallahassee. Florida 32301-8020
(904)488-1480

May 22, 1966

Ms. Carol D. Shull, Chief of Registration
National Register of Historic Places
Department of the Interior, NPS

P. O. Box 37127

Washington, D.C. 20013-7127

Dear Ms. Shull:

Enclosed is the revised nomination form for the St. Augustine Historic
District, whi<® Bill Thurston of my staff has discussed with Any Sdtlagel
by telephone.

Please note that %e have made no cdiange in the boundaries of the
district as it was originally listed in 1970. The revised nomination form
reflects a recent resurvey of the district to identify all properties that
reflect historically significant development within the area through the
1930*8, and includes a complete listing of contributing properties. The re-
vised nomination form has been reviewed and approved by our National Register
Review Board.

For the reasons discussed with Ms. Schlegal by telephone, we will appre-
ciate any steps you can take to expedite your review of the revised nomination.
Please do not hesitate to call me 1f you need any clarification or additional
information.

Geoigw w. Percy —
State Historic Preservation Officer

CNP: <

Enclosures

FIORIDA-StateoftheArts 2T BOS
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Marie Bamas To: Patty Hefwy/WASO/NPSQNPS Ucrfc>*n\

03/07/02 03:03 PM EST ~ Subj” , ) .
Re: St. Augustine Town Plan BoundaryQ  [A\8t> ~ov<j« IHW'

S-kcltS W«WTtr U«ro»'4'
Patty- ersA’\"aA _

E]'hla?kl you for the documentation you sent me on St Augustine Town Plan Historic District. It was most -r_n
elpfull!

As near as we can figure the following events happened in the following sequence, although we may have
some of the sequence wrong;

1. The Secretary designated the St Augustine Town Plan Historic District as an NHL on April 15,
1970, along with a number of other Spanish colonial properties (including three individual buildings in St
Augustine) across the country, either as an expansion of the Spanish colonial theme study of 1959, or
some type of study of colonial architecture. | note that the Single Brothers House, a Moravian
pre-Revolutionary property in N Carolina was designated the same date. We do not however, have a
copy of this theme study and if you run across the document upon which these diverse properties were
dMignated | know we would appreciate receiving a copy.

2. The St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District NHL was entered into the National Register with the
Entry Number of 70000847. But like you said below the *NHL file (in both your office and mine) has no
real nomination in it: not even one of those old Historic Sites Survey forms."

3. However, on April 1,1970, the SHPO of Florida sent the National Register nomination for St

Augustine Hetoric District you mention below, to the Keeper. The National Regll\lster got itonA_P%Sgt ]
and it was listed by Bill Murtagh on July 3,1970.  This document has the Entry"Number (“ffO70900" It

seems this National Register nomination has been used as the NHL document because irffaslCgood for
1970.

4, The reason | think this happened is if you check the National Register of Historic Place 1966 to

1994 book, the onlx St Augustine istopchDistrict isting is fgr the NHL - St._Augi~tuaJ~"Mm Plan 9
Historic District with the entry number of the NHL desighated on April 15.1970 -~*00084” The St +

Augustine Historic District listed in the National Register on July 3,1970, with the eWry number of
707090001. is not listed in the book | think over time the two simply melded into one document.

5. | think this joining happened, to a large extent, when the State of Florida submitted additional
documentation to their 1970 National Register nomination, in 1985, to the National Register This
document expanded the architectural and historical period of significance from 1821 to 1935 for the
National Register nomination

6. The NHL for April 15, 1970, had no nomination form and hence no boundary The 1970 National
Register nomination had a USGS map (we have a copy in our files) showing the boundary of the district
as being bounded on the north by the Castillo (NPS Property) running west to Cordova StreeL then south
to St. Francis Street, then east to the Matanzas River and then north along the river to the Castillo.  This
pretty much corresponds to the Spanish colonial town plan established after the 1702 English attack on
the city

7. However, on October 31,1984, a revised boundary was put forth saying the district is "Bounded
on the north by Castillo de San Marcos, on the south by St Francis Barracks, on the west by Codova
street including the Alcazar Hotel: and on the east by the Matanzas River.” Note the Alcazar Hotel is
west of Codova Street and outside the boundary map for the 1970 National Register nomination. Where
this new boundary came from is not noted in our files, but there was a really push in the mid-1980s to get

KIm- |

[k/*-.



boundaries for NHLs.

8. The 1985 National Register nomination you sent us has a boundary description which includes
the Alcazar Hotel and now the Ponce de Leon Hotel (or Flagler College). We just received a letter from
Mr. Bill Adams, who wrote the 1985 expanded documentation for the St. Augustine National Register
nomination, and he states he did not write the 1985 expanded documentation study to include these two
buildings, because they are west of Cordova Street and outside the old colonial town

9. | should like to suggest that this might be resolved by published the NHL boundary and the
National Register boundary separately, in accordance with their entry numbers. Please note that the
current entry for the St. Augustine NHL boundaries are "Roughly bounded by Grove Ave, the Matanzas
River, and South and Washington Streets." which does corespond to any of the above boundaries

We are hoping to get a small Challenge Cost-Share Grant to update and revise and digitize the NHL
nominations for the Llambias House, the Oldest House and the Cathedral of St. Augustine. Wb also will
look at the status of extant historic housing in the district and from there we might be able to recommend
something more effective for this significant historic area.

Arty ideas, comments, or additions to the above you have will be gratefully accepted.

Take care and thank you,

Mark Barnes

Patty Henry
Patty Hanry To; Mark Bames/Atlanta/NPSQNPS
- cc:
ggﬂ-ﬁ 2002 12:27 PM Subject; Re: SI. Augustine Town Plan Boundary”
Hi Mark:

| have Just put in the mail to you some material from the National Register St Augustine H.D file. There
wt» too much to fox so we just xeroxed it and put it in the rrwil. It appears that the 1986 action was not a
boundary expansion but rather an improved documentation. Our NHL file for the property has no real
rtomination in it not even one of those old Historic Sites Survey forms. But there is a 1970 National
Register nomination for it which we also copied and have sentto you. Then there is the 1986 material
along with a map and some sort of inventory.

Hopefully this will make some sense to you when you see it If you have questions or need to discuss it
doni hesitate to call or e-mail.

Thanla.

Patty
Mark Barnes

Mark Bamss To: Patt3|/ H®nt);1/\N,;AS(I)/NI;IS®NPS
. cc: Cecll McKithan/Atlanta/NPS®NPS
02/21/02 03:26 PM EST Subject: St. Augustine Town Plan Boundary



Dear Patty-

As you may remember our office has been trying to get a better handle on our NHL districts. The St.
Augustine Town Plan (designated in 1971) really needs to be revised and our office has been gathering
information and personnel to achieve that goal in the future.

We received a telephone call from a Ms. Sickes in St Augustine that Barbara Mattock (Florida SHPO
office) said the Nation” Register approved a bourKlary expansion in 1985 to indude the Alcazar and
Ponce de Leon Hotel. But | could not find any indication of this in the NHL fite here. Could you please
send me a copy of the paperwork on this new boundary?

My 2 is (404) 562-3244.

Cecil and | are under the impression that only those resources dating prior to 1821 are nationally
significant, such a boundary expansion could be a great assess to us in developing a revised nomination,

as this could help us to indude very significant post-1821 properties. If you need to call me — (404)
562-3173.

Thanks in advance for your help,

Mark Barnes
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Parroie County

Winder elelnitv. Port Tutyo. Fort Targo StaU
ruk, Ceorfela 81.

Bartoie County

Oarteravtua vtolnlty, *Btouiah Wounda, 8
mUea aouth of OartaravUlo on Oeorgta 81.

Bibb County

Macon, Grand Opera Wouae (Academy o/

Wualc&, fSl MulberrP/ Street.
Macon, Ocmulyre JVollonal Monument.

Bryan County

Richmond Hill vicinity. Port McAUister. 10
Bllea eaat of OA IT.

Carroll County

OarrolUon, Bonner.Bliarp.Ounn Moute. Went
Ooorgla CoUoga eampuo.

Catooaa County

Oluttanooga. Tann., vlelnHy. CMckamauyd
and Ckaltanoopa Batloaal Military Fork,
9 mUea aouth of Chattanooga on US. 97
(alao In Rarallton County, Tenn.).

Chatham County

Savannah. Central of Gooryta Ballway Com-
pany Shop ProPerty, between Weat Jonaa
sweet and Loulsvine Road. .

Savannah, eton [JuHette Gordon) Birth.
place, 10 Oglethorpe Avenue Boat.

Savannah. eSaeannoh Bletorte CuUtrtrt.
bounded by Eaat Brood, Owlnnett, Waat
Breed Streeto. and the Savannah River.

Savannah, Scarbrough, WMUam, Moute, 41
Wool Brood Btrsat.

Savannah vicinity. Port Jeckton, lalande
Eaprtatway. 9 mllaa arat of Savannah on

the Savannah River. .
Savannah vicinity. Fort FuloaM national
Monument, 17 mUea eaat of Savannah.

Oockapur laland.
Clarke County

Alhena, Academic BulldtHg. I/ntveretty of
Oeoryie. Unlvenlty of Oeoegla eampua.
Athena. Blakop Modte. Jackaon SWeat Tln|.

veralty of Oeoelqla eaamai. .
Athena, Chapel, l/nfveralty o/ Georgia, TJnl.

veialty of Oaorgla oompua.

Athena,” Bemoathenlon MaU, Cntecralty o/
Gecvlc. Cnltu-tity of Oaoigia

Athena, huafrat Moute. Cnivaietty of Georgia
catapuB.

Athena, Moore Bail, CnlveratCy of Oeorytm,
Cnlvaralty at Oaorgla eampua.

Athena. Old CoUeye, OntuertUy of Georyte,
Univeralty of Oeargla caunpua.

Athena, OIld Lucy Cobb Matttute Dormttery.
Catwratty of Georgia, Univeralty of Oaoe.

%Ia camﬁ_us.
Albans, Phi Kappa Ball. Unlaeralty of Oeor-

%Ia. Univeralty of Georgia eampua.
Athem. Frcaldent't Bouse, *70 Prtnee Street

Athan*. Woddel Mall, VnivenUy of Georgia,
Univeralty of Oaorgla eampva.
Athena, WIUrtna Bouae, 887 South MUledga
Avenue.
Athens, Wilaon-Lumpkla-Ball Moute. Uni-
veralty of uaorgu eampua.
CObb Counfy
Marlelu vicinity. Kenneasia Mounlain Be-
fumal BeMeyetd Park. 3 mUea weat of
Marietta.
Columbia Counfy
Aucuata vldnlty." «StaUlnga /aland, 3 mllaa
northwest of Augusta In the savannah
River.
Early County
Blakoly vicinity. *Kohmaakf Mounds. 8 mUae
north Of Blakely on UA. 17, Kolomokl
Mounds State Park.

Pulton County

Atlanta. Cyrlorama of the Buttle of Atlentt.
cnerokeé 4”«nue, Grant Park.
Atlanta. *Bairit (\fl(\)ICI Chandler) Bouse 1058

OordOB StrtetS
ANta. Smith, PulHe. Bouae, SOM Andreua

Delve irw.
AUanta, State Oapflol, Capitol Square.
Glyan County

Brunswick vielnity. Port Frederica Batlonal
Monument, 13 miles north of Brunswick.

Cordon Coaoaty

Calhoun vicinity. Been Schofa. north of Cal-
houn on Georgia 339.
Grady County
Beaehton viclatty. Sualna Fbmtatton (Cedar
Grove). IA milaa weat of Beaehton on Me*
rtdlan ‘Rond.
Meneock County
Jvwall vicinity, Shluera-Simpeon Bouae
(Bock MUD. UaySeld Road, on the Ogee
chee River.
Jeekton County

Jeflersoa. Crewford W. Lone Medital Mu-
seum. UA 139.
Ubarty Couuty
Midway vicinity. Port Morrta, e. 10 miles east
of Midway oB OooigU 99 near theeld town

of Sunbury, .
South Newport viciJUty. e«. Colhertne'a
filend. 10 mllaa off the Georgia eoaat be-
gvgsieﬁ St. Catharine'a Sound and Saptlo

L«mpM« County

Dahlonega. Bahhmega Oourfhouae, OA. 19.
Mefufoah Oounfy

Darien vldnlty. Port King George, east of

Moeon County
AnderaonvlUe_vldnlty, "AndcraoniHUr Priton
Site, 1 mile aaat of Andaraonvllle on
Georgia 49 (aha In Sumter County).

Murray County

Chstaworth rtehilty. Port Mountain, Fort
mi/uuuan Mata Fork, UA 78.
Kouae, iBteraeeUon of
UA 78 and Oa. 336.
Muteoyee County
Oolumbuf.- Cotumbua Bfatorte DMrtct.
bounded by Ninth Street on the north,
Fourth Straai on the south. Fourth Ave-
nue on tht east, and the Chattahoochee
River on the waat
Columbus. Columbus iron Works, 901 Front
Avenue,
COlumbua, Ooetchiua-Wellborn Bouae. 80S
Broadway.
Columbus, Gunboats Muscogee and Chafta-
hoochee. Fourth Strset watt of OA 37.
rwiwnhua, Jf'reph Moute. 82S Broadway.
Ckriumbua, Oct gon Bouse. 837 Ptrat Avmua

Columbus. WaOwr-Pelera-Laagdoia Moute.
719 Broadway. .
Columbus. ella-Bogtey Bouae, 39 sixth

Street

Oeottee County
WatklnavUle, Beyle TUacna. lalersecuon of
UB. 130 and 441.

Xtehmond County
Augual. Meekmy Moute. 1Sa Broad Streat
Stepkcitf County

Tooeoa vldnlty, syyaveler'a Kext, 6 miles east
of Toeooa on OA 139.

FEDI9AI IECISTfl, VOI. 34, NO. 3S—SATUSDAT, Ff8IUAIlY 20, 1*71



rt ' 10000\ ~j

H34(2280) JUL - 6 2CW

Cari Halbirt
City Archaeologist

P.O. Box 210
St Augustine, FL  32085-0210

Dear Dr. Halbirt:

Thank you so much for your participation in the Natioiud Park Service's Cultural Resources
Diversity Program. We appreciate your assistance and willingness to oversee our intern, Pauline
Kulsted, as she works to clarify the boundary issues relating to the St. Augustine National
Historic Landmark (NHL) District. Your discussions with our staff and the Southeast Regional
Office about the Cultural Resources Diversity Program (CDRP) internship, the necessary skills
an intern working on this project would need, and, more generally, your assistance with the
updated documentation and Ix>undary have been invaluable.

Following our discussions with you. Dr. Kathleen Deagan ofthe Florida Museum of Natural
History, University of Florida, Dr. Erika Martin Seibert ofthe Washington Office NHL Program,
National Paric Service (NPS), and the Southeast Regional Office of the NPS, this NHL/NPS
project seeks to update the existing NHL documentation to our current standards, add
Archeology as an area of significance, and comprehensively and clearly define the NHL district
boundary. Demonstrating that the archeology of St Augustine is nationally significant is a
crucial step in defining the boundary ofthe NHL. The NHL district boundary will reflect the
extent of the physical resources that date to the period of significance.

Our discussions with you helped us to clarify that the appropriate period of significance for this
NHL will be approximately 1572-1821. The nomination will demonstrate the national
significance ofthe site's archeological research agenda with regard to St. Augustine as an Old
World example ofa town plan and its development in the New World. The nomination will also
ultimately include a discussion, through an examination of the archeological record, ofthe
extraordinary resilience and adaptability of this town and its people, the movements of people in
and out of the town, and the evolution of the town as an urban center.

Under your guidance, Pauline Kulstad, the NPS CRDP summer intern, will work with you and
Dr. Deagan to develop the boundaries ofthe NHL and add the archeology as an area of
significance, rewriting our current documentation.
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Ms. Antoinette J. Lee, Ph.D.
P.O. Box 3407
Arlington, VA 22203-3407

Dear Toni:

Thank you for your inquiry about the potential of Government House in St. Augustine, Florida, to
be considered for National Historic Landmark (NHL) status. The Office of the Supervising
Architect of the Treasury hired Jacksonville architect Mellen C. Greeley to design the building,
which was completed in 1937. Buildings on this site have served government functions since the
colonial period and Greeley incorporated materials from surviving coquina walls into his design
fora modem post office facility. We have considered the property's significance under Criterion
L and Criterion 4 as an early work of restoration as conducted by the Federal government and
within the development ofthe historic preservation movement in the United States. After careful
examination and evaluation, we have determined that the property does not meet the requirements
for NHL consideration and we cannot encourage the preparation ofa nomination.

Although it is difficult to view Government House as an example ofa “restoration,” this term was
applied to the project at the time of conception and realization, and the evolution of
“pricks-and-mortar” preservation is an important theme in the history of historic preservation.
The building does not appear to be a restoration, but rather is a modem design that selectively
includes some (the gabled end wall and balcony), but not all (the tall courtyard walls, tower, and
classical portal) ofthe features visible in a 1764 view capturing the ea.st elevation ofthe building.
The design may have used existing coquina walls, or reused wall materials on the first floor of
what became one wing ofthe new building. The footprint of the building existing on the site at
the outset ofdesign and construction was fully absorbed into the new one.  This contrasts with the
wholesale reconstruction ofthe Governor's Palace and Capitol in Williamsburg between 1928 and
1934. These buildings are also twentieth-century interpretations of the colonial past; however,
the purpose ofthe project was distinct, the level of investigation highly intensive, and the
outcomes very different. Unlike Government House, the major buildings at Williamsburg were
recreated as museum pieces. Towards this end, the architects at Williamsburg conducted in-depth
research, and on-site archeology of below-ground resources, and architectural fieldwork in an
attempt to reconstruct, as accurately as possible for the time, the Governor’s Palace and Capitol as
depicted on the Bodleian Plate (ca. 1740). With the new post office in St. Augustine, knowledge
of Spanish colonial architecture—including an eighteenth-century view of a predecessor building



The documentation acknowledges that the teiro “restoration” was used differently in the 1930s
than today, but does not elaborate on this key topic. Overall, the project seems to be more related
to contemporary design processes involved in devising new buildings that reference local
architectural precedents than a restoration or reconstruction of a specific building. Furthermore,
the assertion that Government House can be considered a restoration does not include an in-depth
consideration ofhow people in the 1930s defined and utilizol this term.  Such an approach would
require a difficultly researched and deeply nuanced analysis of the concept of “seeing” relative to
historic buildings.

If contemporaries truly viewed Government House as a restoration, or even an inventive
reconstruction, in the manner that terms are defined today, what kind of mental gymnastics were in
play? What were the boundaries for something understood to be a restoration versus a new design
that might broadly be broadly categorized as (Spanish) Colonial Revival? How did they reconcile
the dramatic differences between the building of 1935-37; its immediate predecessor—"an
amalgam ofdifferent periods ofconstruction and alteration; and the historic watercolor (1764) that
“was adopted the key-note of the restoration”? Did they see, for example, differences between
the work done in recreating Williamsburg's Governor's Palace and Capitol and the project that
created Government House?

As it stands, it is hard to know from the submitted documentation what parts of the building,
exactly, survived into the early 1930s, when these parts were originally built or significantly
altered, and what fabric was ultimately incorporated into the new post office building. There isno
clear account of the building’s construction and evolution over time. The documentation seems
to suggest that perhaps more than restoration Government House was the first example of a
federally-funded adaptive reuse project. The degree to which the, at best, use ofthree walls in an
otherwise modem building could be considered adaptive reuse is questionable, as is the
importance of a one-off project, an anomaly within the Office ofthe Supervising Architect of the
Treasury.

The Supervising Architect’s Office was, in effect, one ofthe most important architecture “firms”
operating in the country during the second half ofthe nineteenth century and the first half ofthe
twentieth century. As you have demonstrated in your own publication, the office was
incontestably engaged in nationally-significant work whether considering the office’s historical
role or the architectural significance of some of its designs. The Supervising Architect’s Office
was responsible for the design and construction of new buildings for federal functions in historic
towns and urban neighborhoods across the country and Government House fits well within that
context. The office’s reuse of wall remnants in the construction ofa new post office in St.
Augustine in 1935-37 does not reposition it as a “type specimen valuable for the study of early
restoration architecture by the Federal government in the United States.”

While clearly situated within the popular and professional dialogue in the 1930s about historic
buildings and sites, decisions made about the design of Government House seem to be better
categorized as something more of a fanciful contextualization. The formal and stylistic choices
made bY Mellen Greeley in conjunction with the Supervising Architect’s Office do not seem
dissimilar to the deliberation that would have occurr” each time the office planned a post office or

some other government building in a historic town and or neighborhood.



The design process for Government House was also not unique to the Supervising Architect’s
Oflicc. At the same time that work was proceeding with Government House, the National Park
Service (NPS) was undertaking a project with a similar goal. Typical of NPS practice at the time,
the design ofthe headquarters building at Fort Matanzas (1935-36) purposefully mimicked local
architecture with its use of coquina and wood-framing. Considering the emphasis that the
nomination places on the role of the Federal government in the restoration project, it would have
been helpful to place the property within context ofthe development of the Federal government’s
role in preservation—particularly the Antiquities Act (1906) and the effort to preserve Native
American ruins (Casa Grande and Mesa Verde); formation ofthe NPS and early historical paries
(Colonial); the creation of HABS (1933); and passage ofthe Historic Sites Act of 1935.

St. Augustine's larger role in the historic preservation movement is an important one and remains
much understudied. The nomination understandably focuses much attention on Williamsburg,
but does not provide a clear structure for the movement’s history, particularly events related to the
Federal government’s role in preservation as well as the efforts of other “living cities,” such as
Charleston, New Orleans, Savannah, San Antonio, and Alexandria. Moreover, the argument in
the submitted documentation focuses more on the importance of St. Augustine to historic
preservation as a district. We feel that a district nomination—or an expansion to the present one
currently being revi.sed—could more fully and satisfyingly demonstrate St. Augustine’s national
significance than a single property built in 1935-37. A district nomination would take into
account the complex narrative of historic preservation in all its facets, including; archeology,
public history, architecture—reconstructed and restorai as well as new designs like the post office,
and the ever-important element of commerce and historical tourism in a city that by the 1930s had
long been establi.shed as a resort community.

Thank you for your patience while we reviewed the relative merits of the property as well as the
information contained in the drafr you submitted. Please keep in mind that the NHL Program
does not recommend the preparation of documentation prior to us making an official response
about the potential ofa property to be considered for NHL status. The steps ofthe process exist to
avoid misdirecting resources and energies by both the property owner and the preparer, which we
are particularly sensitive to at a time when the national economy remains fragile. Ifyou would
like to discuss this review further, please contact James Jacobs by phone (202-354-2184) or email
(jamesJacobs@nps.gov). We look forward to working with you on other projects in the future.

Sincerely,
AldKandra M. Lord
Alexandra Lord, Ph.D.
Branch Chief
National Historic Landmarks Program

cc: Florida SHPO, attn: Barbara Mattick, Ph.D.
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Sect. I, Item 7: restoration and interior rehabilitation of the building for

use as an interpretive facility and house museum.

Sect. Item 13 b: The source of matching funds is in the value of donated
property resulting from its acquisition at less than appraised
value, and state general revenue appropriations for fixed
capital outlay by the Historic St. Augustine Preservation
Board.
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